World Journal of *Orthopedics*

World J Orthop 2021 January 18; 12(1): 1-55





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Orthopedics

Contents

Monthly Volume 12 Number 1 January 18, 2021

OPINION REVIEW

Anterior glenohumeral instability: Current review with technical pearls and pitfalls of arthroscopic soft-1 tissue stabilization

Apostolakos JM, Wright-Chisem J, Gulotta LV, Taylor SA, Dines JS

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Observational Study

- Ceramic-on-ceramic vs ceramic-on-polyethylene, a comparative study with 10-year follow-up 14 van Loon J, Hoornenborg D, van der Vis HM, Sierevelt IN, Opdam KT, Kerkhoffs GM, Haverkamp D
- 24 Hello, can you hear me? Orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations in the COVID-19 era- a patient and clinician perspective

Vusirikala A, Ensor D, Asokan AK, Lee AJX, Ray R, Tsekes D, Edwin J

META-ANALYSIS

Thirty-day mortality of patients with hip fracture during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic periods: 35 A systematic review and meta-analysis

Tripathy SK, Varghese P, Panigrahi S, Panda BB, Velagada S, Sahoo SS, Naik MA, Rao SK

CASE REPORT

51 Hallux rigidus treated with adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: A case report Braile A, Toro G, De Cicco A, Cecere AB, Zanchini F, Schiavone Panni A



Contents

Monthly Volume 12 Number 1 January 18, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Orthopedics, Maciej Płaszewski, MEd, PT, PhD, is a university professor and Head of the Department of Rehabilitation, Faculty in Biała Podlaska, Józef Piłsudski University of Physical Education, Warsaw, Poland. He has a background in physiotherapy and health policy, and also in physical education and occupational therapy. His research interests are primarily focused on evidence-based practice, secondary research and research synthesis methods. He has been engaged in research synthesis studies addressing management and recommendations for school screening and treatment interventions for people with idiopathic scoliosis, as well as other, especially physiotherapeutic, interventions, including physical modalities and pulmonary physiotherapy. Currently, he is leading an international project from the Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education, focusing on the implementation and dissemination of evidence-based physiotherapy practice in Poland. (L-Editor: Filipodia)

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Orthopedics (WJO, World J Orthop) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of orthopedics with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJO mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of orthopedics and covering a wide range of topics including arthroscopy, bone trauma, bone tumors, hand and foot surgery, joint surgery, orthopedic trauma, osteoarthropathy, osteoporosis, pediatric orthopedics, spinal diseases, spine surgery, and sports medicine.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

WJO is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2022 edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2021 Journal Citation Indicator (JCI) for WJO as 0.62. The WJO's CiteScore for 2021 is 2.4 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2021: Orthopedics and Sports Medicine is 139/284.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yan-Xia Xing, Production Department Director: Xiang Li, Editorial Office Director: Jin-Lei Wang.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Orthopedics	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2218-5836 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
November 18, 2010	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Massimiliano Leigheb	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
http://www.wjgnet.com/2218-5836/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE January 18, 2021	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com





WJD

World Journal of **Orthopedics**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Orthop 2021 January 18; 12(1): 1-13

DOI: 10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.1

ISSN 2218-5836 (online)

OPINION REVIEW

Anterior glenohumeral instability: Current review with technical pearls and pitfalls of arthroscopic soft-tissue stabilization

John M Apostolakos, Joshua Wright-Chisem, Lawrence V Gulotta, Samuel A Taylor, Joshua S Dines

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chou A

Received: June 30, 2020 Peer-review started: June 30, 2020 First decision: December 11, 2020 Revised: December 16, 2020 Accepted: December 23, 2020 Article in press: December 23, 2020 Published online: January 18, 2021



John M Apostolakos, Joshua Wright-Chisem, Lawrence V Gulotta, Samuel A Taylor, Joshua S Dines, Department of Sports Medicine and Shoulder Surgery, Hospital for Special Surgery, New York, NY 10021, United States

Corresponding author: John M Apostolakos, MD, Surgeon, Department of Sports Medicine and Shoulder Surgery, Hospital for Special Surgery, 535 East 70th Street, New York, NY 10021, United States. apostolakosj@hss.edu

Abstract

The glenohumeral joint (GHJ) allows for a wide range of motion, but is also particularly vulnerable to episodes of instability. Anterior GHJ instability is especially frequent among young, athletic populations during contact sporting events. Many first time dislocators can be managed non-operatively with a period of immobilization and rehabilitation, however certain patient populations are at higher risk for recurrent instability and may require surgical intervention for adequate stabilization. Determination of the optimal treatment strategy should be made on a case-by-case basis while weighing both patient specific factors and injury patterns (i.e., bone loss). The purpose of this review is to describe the relevant anatomical stabilizers of the GHJ, risk factors for recurrent instability including bony lesions, indications for arthroscopic vs open surgical management, clinical history and physical examination techniques, imaging modalities, and pearls/pitfalls of arthroscopic soft-tissue stabilization for anterior glenohumeral instability.

Key Words: Arthroscopic; Soft-tissue; Anterior instability; Glenohumeral; Functional anatomy; Recurrent instability

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Core Tip: Management of the patient with anterior shoulder instability is a common yet complex condition for the orthopaedic clinician. To optimize the evaluation and management of these patients the clinician must ensure a detailed and thorough clinical and radiographic workup, have a thorough understanding of the dynamic, static, and bony stabilizers of the glenohumeral joint, and understand the common causes of failed surgical intervention in order to address these concerns when appropriate. This review describes the current evidence on anterior glenohumeral instability including functional anatomy, risk factors for recurrent instability, clinical history and physical examination techniques, imaging modalities, and operative pearls and pitfalls.

Citation: Apostolakos JM, Wright-Chisem J, Gulotta LV, Taylor SA, Dines JS. Anterior glenohumeral instability: Current review with technical pearls and pitfalls of arthroscopic soft-tissue stabilization. World J Orthop 2021; 12(1): 1-13

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-5836/full/v12/i1/1.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.1

INTRODUCTION

The unique structure of the glenohumeral joint (GHJ) allows for a wide range of motion, but also makes the joint particularly vulnerable to episodes of instability^[1]. Anterior instability is the most common form, accounting for 80%-98% of all GHJ instability events among young, athletic populations particularly during contact sporting events with the shoulder in the abducted and externally rotated position [2-10]. In 2018, the MOON Shoulder Instability Study reported on the descriptive epidemiology of 863 patients who underwent surgical intervention for GHJ instability[11]. They found the mean age for the cohort was 24 years with males representing 82% of all patients. The primary direction of instability was most commonly anterior for male (74%) and female (73%) patients with football (24%) and basketball (13%) the most common sports during which the injury occurred. The etiology of instability events ranges from ligamentous laxity to traumatic dislocation events, with the latter being the most common with an overall incidence of 1.7% [7,12].

Many first time dislocators can be managed non-operatively with a period of immobilization and rehabilitation, however, certain patient populations are at higher risk for recurrent instability which can lead to substantial time loss from active participation/training and may require surgical intervention for adequate stabilization[4,13,14]. Operative techniques aimed at addressing GHJ instability are variable and range from arthroscopic soft-tissue stabilization, open soft-tissue stabilization, as well as techniques aimed at addressing bone loss such as the Latarjet procedure, autologous bone graft transfer, and allograft bone transfers. Determination of the optimal treatment strategy should be made on a case-bycase basis while weighing patient specific factors such as age, activity/sport/working status, goals, and previous history of instability events. Additionally, injury specific factors should also be considered such as acuity of injury and the degree of bone loss which will be discussed in more detail later in this text.

The purpose of this review is to describe the relevant anatomical stabilizers of the GHJ, risk factors for recurrent instability including bony lesions, indications for arthroscopic vs open surgical management, clinical history and physical examination techniques, imaging modalities, and pearls/pitfalls of arthroscopic soft-tissue stabilization for anterior glenohumeral instability.

FUNCTIONAL ANATOMY

GHJ stability is provided through a complex interplay of passive and dynamic stabilizers[1,15-19]. Passive stabilizers include the rotator interval [superior glenohumeral ligament (SGHL), coracohumeral ligament, and joint capsule], the middle glenohumeral ligament (MGHL), and most importantly the inferior glenohumeral ligament complex (IGHL)[20]. The glenoid labrum runs circumferentially along the glenoid rim and serves as the point of insertion for all of the GH ligaments[1]. The SGHL prevents inferior translation of the adducted shoulder, the MGHL resists anterior translation in the externally rotated shoulder in abduction up to 45 degrees, and the IGHL can be broken down into the anterior band which is the major restraint to anteroinferior translation in external rotation with abduction > 45 degrees and the posterior band which resists posterior translation in the flexed and internally rotated shoulder[1,20-25]. The labrum deepens the glenoid socket and acts as a physiologic bumper to prevent GHJ instability[1]. Furthermore, the fibrocartilaginous labrum which circumferentially surrounds the glenoid and provides stabilization to the GHJ is tight in its anteroinferior attachment and loose in the superior attachment with a great deal of anatomic variation [1,21]. Acting in accordance with these



ligamentous and capsular stabilizers are surrounding muscles providing dynamic stabilization which include the deltoid, biceps brachii, and the rotator cuff muscles. The basis for dynamic stability is the theory that instability occurs at end-range positions which place the GHJ at its maximum vulnerability in regards to dislocation. Muscular activity acts to compress the humeral head against the center of the glenoid fossa thereby stabilizing during these end-range motions[15,17-19,26].

While there are several ligamentous and muscular components to stability, the glenoid and humeral head add an additional osseous component for stabilization. Therefore, in the evaluation of GHJ instability a proper understanding of the bony anatomy and pathoanatomy is critical to determine an accurate diagnosis and treatment plan. When considering the size of the glenoid in comparison to the humeral head it is clear that even a small bony lesion can lead to significant instability by altering the bony articulation of the glenoid and humeral head [21,27-29]. The glenoid is a pear shaped bone which is widest in the inferior half and is tilted anteriorly [1,26]. Wide variability in the size and inclination of the glenoid make bony lesions related to instability especially challenging to treat. The articulation between the glenoid and humeral head is important to consider in the patient with recurrent anterior instability. Burkhart and Danaceau^[30] described the "articular arc" between these bones and determined that defects in this arc could lead to engaging lesions and instability events.

A proper understanding of the anatomy related to the GHJ is critical to properly evaluate, diagnose, and treat anterior GHJ instability. The surgeon needs to have a precise understanding of both the normal and variant anatomy of the capsulolabral complex as well as the dynamic muscular stabilizers to properly evaluate and surgically manage injury. Additionally, an understanding of the bony anatomy of the glenoid and humeral head come into play as the clinician needs to thoroughly evaluate and manage these defects. These challenges will be described further in later sections of this text.

RISK FACTORS FOR RECURRENT GLENOHUMERAL INSTABILITY

Although GHJ instability is considered a relatively common event in young athletes and physically active patient populations, oftentimes first-time dislocators can be effectively managed non-operatively [3-6,31]. However, several proposed risk factors associated with recurrent instability events have been described. Of these reported risk factors, the most closely associated with recurrence include a history of instability events, age at the time of initial injury, contact sports, overhead athletes, and those with ligamentous laxity [4,7,21,32-36]. In addition, the most challenging injuries to treat are those with concomitant bony pathologies. During an anterior GHJ instability event there can be bony injury to the glenoid (referred to as a bony Bankart lesion), the humeral head (referred to as a Hill-Sachs lesions), or to both structures (bipolar lesions). Several studies have reported on the relationship between GHJ instability and bony deficits with recurrent instability rates in correlation with the size of the bony lesion [34,37]. In the past these injuries were managed with isolated soft tissue repairs, however growing evidence of recurrent instability raised questions as to the appropriate management of these injuries. An investigation performed by Burkhart et al[29] reported on 194 consecutive arthroscopic Bankart cases and found recurrence rates of 4% in those without significant bone defects as compared to 67% in those with humeral and/or glenoid lesions. These findings added evidence to the recurrent instability in those with untreated bony lesions and increased the awareness and treatment of these pathologies. In the management of patients with anterior GHJ instability it is important to think about the bony risk factors for recurrent instability and to modify these risk factors when possible to improve clinical results. Some of these potential risk factors related to bony defects have been researched in the literature and include.

Glenoid defects: The bony Bankart

Glenoid lesions have been reported to occur in 22%-41% of first time dislocation events and up to 86% of recurrent events[28,32,38,39]. Bony Bankart lesions occur during anterior GHJ instability as the dislocation of the humeral head creates a bony lesion on the anteroinferior aspect of the glenoid in addition to avulsion of the anteroinferior labrum. Burkhart et al [29] described the normal glenoid to appear pear shaped with a wider diameter in the inferior aspect as compared to the superior aspect. They went on to describe the "inverted pear" phenomenon which was in reference to the pathologic appearance of the glenoid resulting from a bony Bankart injury where the superior aspect of the glenoid appeared wider in diameter as compared to the inferior aspect. This change disrupts the arc of motion while the arm is abducted and externally which places the GHJ at a higher risk of redislocation. This theory was then confirmed by the biomechanical work of Gerber *et al*[40] who reported that increasing loss of the anteroinferior glenoid arc was associated with decreased resistance to dislocation. Bigliani et al[28] further categorized glenoid lesions and provided prognostic factors as follows: Type 1 Lesions involve a non-displaced anterior glenoid fragment, type 2 Lesions involve a small anterior fragment detached from the labrum, type 3a lesions involve < 25% anterior glenoid deficiency, and type 3b lesions involve > 25% anterior glenoid deficiency.

Humeral head defects: The Hill-Sachs lesion

In addition to glenoid sided lesions, a bony lesion to the posterolateral aspect of the humeral head is



referred to as a "Hill-Sachs" lesion and can also lead to GHJ instability. These bony defects following first time GHJ dislocation have been reported to be found in up to 70% of patients[32,41]. In their review of 91 patients, Boileau et al[35] found Hill-Sachs lesions to be significantly related to failure. The failures resulting from Hill-Sachs lesions are theorized to result secondary to the articular arc defect which causes engagement of the humerus against the anterior glenoid rim referred to as the "engaging Hill-Sachs" lesion[29,35]. In their investigation, Burkhart et al[29] reported recurrent anterior GHJ instability in 100% (n = 3) of patients found to have an "engaging" Hill-Sachs lesion treated with arthroscopic Bankart repairs for traumatic anteroinferior instability. Although the clinical correlation between humeral defects and recurrent dislocation has been reported, there is a lack of current information regarding the size of the defect and relation to instability.

The combined bony Bankart and Hill-Sachs injury

While bony Bankart and Hill-Sachs lesions can occur in isolation, these injuries may also occur concurrently. A recent cadaveric study by Arciero et al[42] reported on these combined injuries. The study developed models for bony lesions based on computed tomography (CT) scans from 142 consecutive patients presenting with GHJ instability. The authors found that combined glenoid and humeral lesions displayed an additive and negative effect on GHJ stability. More specifically, they found that in patients with moderate sized Hill-Sachs lesions (defined as 50th percentile within the population of 142 consecutive patients), a glenoid lesion as small as 2 mm significantly compromised the stability of a soft tissue Bankart repair. These findings led to the conclusion that combined glenoid and humeral head defects have an additive and negative effect on glenohumeral stability.

The "glenoid track" concept

This description of the zone of contact between the glenoid and humeral head during elevation of the arm is termed the "glenoid track" [43]. This concept was initially described by Yamamoto et al [43] in a cadaveric study focused on the location and width of this "glenoid track" during various degrees of abduction while maintaining maximum external rotation and horizontal extension. The investigators found that the zone of contact shifted from the inferomedial to the superolateral portion aspect of the humeral head. They determined the width of the track from the rotator cuff attachment site of the greater tuberosity to be 84% ± 14% of the width of the glenoid (assuming no bone injury to the glenoid) and used this concept to determine the risk of a Hill-Sachs lesion engaging the glenoid rim in cases with and without bony injury. If the bony injury to the humeral head is located within the width of the glenoid track then there is no opportunity for the Hill-Sachs lesion to over-ride the glenoid creating a potential instability event. However, in cases where the Hill-Sachs lesion extends beyond the width of the glenoid track this creates an opportunity for instability. Another important aspect of this concept is that the width of the glenoid track is determined solely on the width of the glenoid meaning that a bony Bankart directly correlates with a decrease in width of the glenoid track. This concept was not the first to describe bony lesions as they relate to anterior glenohumeral instability, however this provided a new concept to evaluate both humeral and glenoid sided lesions simultaneously as the authors concluded that if the medial margin of a Hill-Sachs lesion is more medial than the glenoid track then standard stabilization techniques are unlikely to adequately address the bony sources of instability. Several investigations have identified "off-track" lesions to be at higher risk for recurrent instability [44-48]. Most recently, in a 2020 investigation by Yian et al[36] the authors reported on 540 patients undergoing primary arthroscopic Bankart repair and found "off-track" glenoid lesions to be statistically significantly associated with higher rates of recurrent instability (odds ratio, OR 2.86).

INDICATIONS FOR ARTHROSCOPIC VS OPEN SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

The purpose of surgical management of anteroinferior labral injuries is to reduce the risk of recurrent instability events. Historically, the rate of recurrent glenohumeral dislocations following open surgical repair have been lower (5%-9%)[49-51] as compared to arthroscopic interventions (5%-33%)[52-54]. Traditionally, open Bankart repair performed simultaneously with a capsular shift was considered the preferred management option, however improvements in arthroscopic techniques and implants have resulted in arthroscopic stabilization becoming the currently preferred technique for management of recurrent anterior GHJ instability [55-57]. One of the major advantages of the arthroscopic technique is that it does not violate the subscapularis which could potentially lead to functional deficits in external rotation^[49]. Several high level investigations have reported similar rates of recurrent instability following arthroscopic vs open surgical intervention [53,55,58,59]. While these investigations found similar outcomes in results following both arthroscopic and open stabilization procedures, only short term outcomes were reported. Others have argued that outcomes between arthroscopic and open stabilization cannot be established in 2-3 years of followup[56]. Supporting this argument, longer-term studies have found much higher rates of recurrent shoulder instability following arthroscopic repair ranging from 17%-35% at 5-10 years[60-63]. This is in comparison to longer-term studies reporting on outcomes of open Bankart repairs with recurrence rates of 15%-17.5% at 10-20 years[61,62,64]. Although



it may seem reasonable to utilize an open Bankart repair following initial failure of an arthroscopic technique, the current literature shows inferior outcomes in patients undergoing revision open Bankart compared to primary open Bankart[65-67]. Despite the abundance of clinical outcomes on this topic, indications for primary open Bankart repair remain controversial[56]. Some advocate for open Bankart repair in the setting of male collision athletes younger than 20 years, patients with subcritical (10%-20%) glenoid bone loss, patients with 10 or more shoulder dislocations, patients who have failed arthroscopic Bankart repair with less than 20% glenoid bone loss, and those with poor capsulolabral tissue[56].

When considering operative intervention it is also critical to evaluate associated bony injuries as discussed in previous sections of this manuscript. Amounts of bone loss initially thought to be adequately treated with Bankart repair is shrinking. Historically, anteroinferior glenoid bone loss of ≥ 25% of the inferior glenoid diameter is managed with glenoid bone grafting with a coracoid autograft (Latarjet), iliac autograft, or allograft[29,35,40,54,68-71]. Cadaveric investigations have shown that bone loss of > 21% has resulted in residual instability, resulting in some advocating for a threshold of 20% glenoid bone defect to be an indication for bony stabilization [54,72]. A 2015 investigation by Shaha et al [73] reported increased shoulder pain and decreased function in patients after arthroscopic Bankart repair with bone loss of 13.5%-19.8% of the inferior glenoid which they termed "subcritical" bone loss. This investigation led to the potential role of bony augmentation in patients with this "subcritical" bone loss of the glenoid. More recently, Pickett and Svoboda^[54] reported their threshold for a Latarjet procedure to be 20% glenoid bone loss while also considering the procedure in contact athletes with "subcritical" (13%-19%) glenoid bone loss.

The clinical implications of Hill-Sachs lesions is not completely understood, original thought was that lesions > 16% of the humeral head diameter, those whose volume exceed 1000 mm³, or patients who experienced a clunking sensation with the arm in 90 degrees of abduction and 90 degrees of external rotation required operative intervention [54,74]. Others advocated that defects > 20%-25% of the humeral head diameter required management with an allograft[54,75]. These investigations preceded the concept of the glenoid track by Yamamoto et al[43] which was discussed earlier in this text.

While many investigations have reported on glenoid or humeral sided bone lesions, in practice these injuries can occur concurrently. Di Giacomo et al[68] proposed an algorithm in patients with bipolar lesions with varying degrees of glenoid and humeral head involvement. The authors broke patients down into the following four groups with their associated treatment: (1) Group 1: < 25% glenoid bone loss and on-track Hill-Sachs defect can be treated with an arthroscopic Bankart repair; (2) Group 2: < 25% glenoid bone loss and off-track Hill-Sachs defect can be treated with an arthroscopic Bankart repair and remplissage; (3) Group 3: > 25% glenoid bone loss and on-track Hill-Sachs defect require a Latarjet procedure; and (4) Group 4: > 25% glenoid bone loss and off-track Hill-Sachs defect require a Latarjet procedure and may need an additional bony procedure to address the humeral head.

It would seem practical to utilize the glenoid track concept to assist in surgical planning as it incorporates bony lesions to both the glenoid and humeral head. Due to the fact that this initial concept was described in vitro, some theorized it may not represent true conditions of recurrent instability due to its lack of including factors such as laxity of the capsulolabral complex. In theory, this could lead to a smaller sized Hill-Sachs lesion facilitating an engaging bipolar lesion causing recurrent instability[44, 76]. However, there is growing evidence supporting clinical outcomes using the glenoid track concept while lowering the threshold for glenoid bone loss[48,77]. More specifically, Metzger et al[77] reported on 205 patients with recurrent anterior shoulder instability. The patients had a mean glenoid bone loss of 7.6% (range 0%-29%) with 22% of patients engaging on clinical exam under anesthesia (EUA). When comparing clinical EUA findings with radiographic findings, 84.5% of patients with radiographic findings suggestive of an engaging lesion displayed clinical evidence of an engaging lesion on EUA while only 12.4% clinically engaged during EUA without radiographic evidence of engagement (P < P0.001). The investigation demonstrated that gleno-humeral engagement was well predicted based on preoperative glenoid and humeral head bone loss measurements using the glenoid track concept. Supporting these findings, a 2016 investigation by Shaha et al [48] reported on 57 shoulders over a two year period treated with a primary arthroscopic Bankart reconstruction. The authors reported 10 instability recurrences (18%) with 4 (8%) failures in the on-track patients as compared to 6 (75%) in the off-track group (P = 0.0001). Importantly, they reported the positive predictive value (PPV) of an offtrack measurement was 75% compared to a 44% PPV in those with glenoid bone loss of > 20%. They concluded that the application of the glenoid track concept was superior to using glenoid bone loss alone when predicting post-operative stability.

More recently, a 2018 Yang et al^[76] investigated the relationship between the Hill-Sachs interval and the glenoid track. The investigators retrospectively reviewed 160 patients who underwent an arthroscopic Bankart repair with a minimum of 24 mo follow up. They reported that a Hill-Sachs interval to glenoid track width ratio (H/G ratio) of ≥ 0.7 was a significant predictor of higher risk for recurrent instability. This value was validated by the recent findings of Chen et al [44] who found the H/G ratio of \geq 0.7 to be comparable to the instability severity index score (ISIS) for predicting an increased risk of recurrent instability after arthroscopic Bankart repair. The ISIS was initially developed by Balg *et al* [78] and utilizes a combination of clinical characteristics and radiographic findings to predict risk for recurrent instability. It has been validated by several studies as a useful tool in predicting recurrent instability[44,79-83].

CLINICAL HISTORY AND PHYSICAL EXAM

The history of injury should include a description of the position of the arm, force applied, and point of force[84]. The typical mechanism for an anterior GHJ dislocation is a force to an extended, abducted, and externally rotated upper extremity^[84]. Clinical history elicited during the initial encounter should also include evaluation of other sources of instability such as connective tissue disorders or generalized joint laxity. Connective tissue disorders such as Ehlers Danlos or Marfan's syndrome should be ruled out by inspecting for skin hyper-extensibility, widened atrophic scarring, family history, personal history of instability events, and evaluation of joint hypermobility utilizing the Beighton criteria when clinically appropriate[85]. Evaluation should always include comparison to the contralateral shoulder.

Examination of the shoulder should include evaluation of the cervical spine, visualization of bilateral shoulders for evidence of muscular atrophy or deformities, active and passive range of motion, and a neurovascular exam with careful evaluation of the axillary nerve[32]. Finally, evaluation should include specific laxity and instability testing. It is important for the clinician to differentiate GHJ instability which is described as symptomatic and reproducible dislocation of the joint as compared to generalized joint laxity which is characterized by loose ligamentous tissue causing chronic pain and instability during minor events.

Tests specific to joint laxity include the load and shift test and the sulcus test. In the load and shift test an axial load is placed on the shoulder to center the humeral head onto the glenoid cavity and the examiner stabilizes the shoulder girdle with one hand while applying an anterior or posterior load to the proximal humerus with the other hand [32]. Increased translation in the anterior or posterior directions indicates joint laxity in that plane. The sulcus test is performed while the patient stands with their arm at the side while the examiner places a downward force onto the arm. It can be indicative of inferior laxity if a sulcus, or hollowing, occurs inferior to the acromion. Both of these tests should be performed in comparison to the contralateral side. In regards to testing for joint stability the clinician may perform the apprehension test and the jerk test. The apprehension test is performed with the patient in a supine or standing position. The arm is held in 90 degrees of abduction and in external rotation. The examiner places one hand behind the scapula for stabilization while simultaneously pulling back on the wrist putting the patient into further external rotation. The patient with anterior instability becomes apprehensive during this maneuver[84]. The jerk test is performed with the patient in internal rotation and flexed to 90 degrees. With one hand stabilizing the scapula the examiner grasps the elbow and places an axial load onto the humerus while simultaneously moving the arm horizontally across the body. The clinician is evaluating for a sudden "jerk" of the humeral head sliding off of the posterior glenoid followed by a "clunk" when the arm is brought back to the original positioning[84]. A positive jerk test is indicative of posterior instability.

Imaging

Initial radiographic workup of GHJ dislocation should include plain radiographs with anteroposterior (AP), infraspinatus outlet, and axillary views to evaluate for bony pathology and the version of the glenoid. Angled views such as the apical oblique view, Stryker notch view, and the West Point view could also be obtained to better visualize bony defects to the glenoid and posterolateral humeral head [84]. If there is further clinical or radiographic concern for bony pathology, or in cases of recurrent episodes of instability, computed tomography (CT) imaging with 3D reconstruction remains the gold standard for evaluation of bony injury [28,32]. In addition to evaluation of bony deficits, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is the preferred method for evaluation of the soft tissues of the shoulder joint, specifically for evaluation of the glenoid labrum and rotator cuff. Based on its location, the GHJ is inherently difficult to image and the best positioning is with the arm in a neutral or externally rotated position as internal rotation of the shoulder can cause labral and/or anteroinferior capsule redundancy which obscures tears [1,86]. In general, several consecutive images should be reviewed when evaluating an MRI and MR arthrography may also be utilized to increase visualization [1,87].

OPERATIVE PEARLS AND PITFALLS OF ARTHROSCOPIC BANKART REPAIR

Patient positioning

Based on the importance of the inferior anchor placement the clinician should consider the benefits and disadvantages of beach chair vs lateral decubitus positions. In regards to the beach chair positioning the benefits include easier conversion from arthroscopic to open, anatomic orientation of the joint, rotational control of the shoulder, and optimal visualization of the subacromial joint. Despite these advantages, the major difficulty with beach chair orientation is decreased visualization of the inferior aspects of the joint. In comparison, the lateral decubitus positioning allows for increased joint space as traction can be applied in addition to improved access and visualization to the inferior GHJ. Despite this advantage it's important to note that the disadvantages of lateral decubitus positioning include non-anatomic orientation, difficult conversion from arthroscopic to open, challenging positioning for the anesthesia team, and the possibility of traction related injury.



In regards to the optimized visualization/access to the inferior joint, a systematic review with metaregression analysis conducted by Frank *et al*[88] on outcomes of arthroscopic anterior shoulder instability cases in beach chair *vs* lateral positioning. The study reported on 64 studies including 3668 shoulders and found the overall recurrent instability rates were 14.65% in the beach chair positioning patients as compared to 8.5% in the lateral decubitus positioning. Although the study reported decreased recurrence rates within the lateral decubitus group the differences in range of motion, return to activity, and Rowe scores between groups were not significant. Although patient positioning may be related to recurrent instability events it is important to recognize that these results do not necessarily suggest a more or less successful surgery as clinical outcome scores were similar and the fact that recurrence is a difficult measure of operative success based on the wide spectrum inherit to the term "instability."

Portal placement

Optimal portal placement is crucial during the operative management of GHJ instability. With incorrect or inadequate portal placement the visualization into the joint can be severely compromised and can also dramatically increase the technical difficulty. Ideal placement of the portals allows for adequate visualization for proper diagnostic arthroscopy and eases the technical demands of anchor placement. Initial portal placement begins with standard posterior portal located roughly 2 cm inferior and 1 cm medial to the posterolateral corner of the acromion. Next, the anterosuperior (AS) portal is placed anterolateral to the edge of the acromion and lateral to the coracoid under direct visualization. Ideal intraarticular placement of this portal is just posterior to the insertion of the long head of the biceps. The primary purpose of the AS portal is to visualize the inferior, anterior, and posterior capsule while allowing for a thorough diagnostic scope to evaluate and recognize the anatomy of the shoulder. During this stage of the procedure the surgeon will evaluate the capsular volume, biceps tendon, glenohumeral ligaments, rotator cuff, and the anterior, posterior, and inferior labrum. Next, the anterior and posterior working portals can be created under direct visualization. During creation of these portals an "outside in" technique is utilized meaning a spinal needed is used to ensure ideal placement. For the anterior portal the needle should be placed between the acromioclavicular joint and the lateral coracoid. Intraarticularly the needed will ideally pierce the capsule just superior to the subscapularis tendon directly parallel to the surface of the glenoid. The posterior portal is created slightly inferior to the arch of the acromion and directed towards the coracoid process. Proper placement of these portals will allow the surgeon to visually appreciate the entire capsulolabral complex.

Labrum and glenoid preparation

Adequate labral preparation is a critical component of anterior GHJ instability repairs as error during this step may lead to recurrent instability due to inadequate capsulolabral plication. An elevator device can be used during this step to peel the labrum off the glenoid surface. After elevating the labrum from the glenoid neck a small shaver can be used to prepare the surface of the glenoid for anchor placement. Preparation of the labrum should be completed prior to preparation of the glenoid surface and anchor placement.

Anchor placement

Ideal anchor placement is below the 3 o'clock position placed 2-3 mm from the glenoid rim at a 45 degree angle relative to the anterior glenoid rim[21]. Anchors can then be placed approximately 7 mm apart. Based on the study performed by Boileau *et al*[35] at least 4 suture anchors should be utilized as 3 or fewer were found to be at higher risk for recurrent instability. During this stage of the procedure it is critical to achieve inferior anchor placement onto the glenoid. There are several portal positions and guides available to the surgeon to achieve this low placement however there remains no perfect option. A biomechanical study by Frank *et al*[89] reported on inferior anchor placement in 30 cadavers which were randomized into 3 test groups based on portal location and drill guide. The study found that there was no significant difference in ultimate load to failure among anchors placed *via* the 3 techniques. However, the authors did conclude that midglenoid portal anchors drilled with a straight or curved guide placed at the 5 o'clock position displayed significantly increased risk of opposite cortex perforation. Although the clinical applicability of these findings remained unclear, the study prompted discussion regarding ideal patient positioning in order to visualize the inferior glenoid in order to place the inferior anchor.

Rehabilitation

The authors prefer an abduction sling post-operatively in order to keep the shoulder in neutral positioning. Physical therapy then begins 7-10 d post-operatively with passive and active range of motion (ROM) for 4 wk (forward flexion to 130 degrees, external rotation to 30 degrees), ROM progression from 4-6 wk (forward flexion to 180 degrees, external rotation to 60 degrees), followed by resistive strengthening from 8-12 wk, and return to full sports and activities at 4-6 mo[21].

CONCLUSION

Management of the patient with anterior shoulder instability is a common yet complex condition for the orthopaedic surgeon. To optimize the evaluation and management of these patients the provider must ensure a detailed and thorough clinical and radiographic workup, have a thorough understanding of the dynamic, static, and bony stabilizers of the GHJ, and understand the common causes of failed surgical intervention in order to address these concerns when appropriate.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Apostolakos JM was the author primarily responsible for the writing and editing of the text; Wright-Chisem J assisted in the writing and editing of the text; Gulotta LV provided critical expertise and input into the material of the text; Taylor SA provided critical expertise and input into the material of the text; Dines JS provided critical expertise and input into the material of the text.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Drs. Apostolakos and Wright-Chisem have nothing to disclose. Dr. Gulotta is a paid consultant, present, or speaker and received research support from Biomet. He is a paid presenter or speaker for Exactech, Inc and receives IP royalties. He is on the editorial or governing board for the HSS Journal. Dr. Gulotta has stock or stock options with Imagen, Inc and Responsive Arthroscopy, Inc. He is a paid presenter or speaker for Smith and Nephew, outside the submitted work. Dr. Taylor is a paid consultant for DJ Orthopaedics and Mitek, outside the submitted work. Dr. Dines is a board or committee member for the American Shoulder and Elbow Surgeons. He is a paid consultant, presenter, or speaker with research support from Arthrex, Inc and is on the editorial or governing board for the Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery. He receives IP royalties from Linvatec and publishing royalties with financial or material support from Thieme and Wolters Kluwer Health.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: John M Apostolakos 0000-0003-1615-6192; Joshua Wright-Chisem 0000-0002-3760-388X; Lawrence V Gulotta 0000-0002-4094-4781; Samuel A Taylor UNK3; Joshua S Dines 0000-0002-2135-9317.

S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Ma YJ

REFERENCES

- Apostolakos J, Yang J, Hoberman A, Shoji M, Weinreb J, Voss A, DiVenere J, Mazzocca A. Glenoid Labrum. In: Bain 1 G, Itoi E, Di Giacomo G, Sugaya H. Normal and Pathological Anatomy of the Shoulder. Springer, 2015: 83-91
- Owens BD, Campbell SE, Cameron KL. Risk factors for anterior glenohumeral instability. Am J Sports Med 2014; 42: 2 2591-2596 [PMID: 25248922 DOI: 10.1177/0363546514551149]
- Owens BD, Duffey ML, Nelson BJ, DeBerardino TM, Taylor DC, Mountcastle SB. The incidence and characteristics of shoulder instability at the United States Military Academy. Am J Sports Med 2007; 35: 1168-1173 [PMID: 17581976 DOI: 10.1177/0363546506295179
- Cameron KL, Mountcastle SB, Nelson BJ, DeBerardino TM, Duffey ML, Svoboda SJ, Owens BD. History of shoulder instability and subsequent injury during four years of follow-up: a survival analysis. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2013; 95: 439-445 [PMID: 23467867 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.L.00252]
- Owens BD, Agel J, Mountcastle SB, Cameron KL, Nelson BJ. Incidence of glenohumeral instability in collegiate athletics. 5 Am J Sports Med 2009; 37: 1750-1754 [PMID: 19556471 DOI: 10.1177/0363546509334591]
- Kerr ZY, Collins CL, Pommering TL, Fields SK, Comstock RD. Dislocation/separation injuries among US high school 6 athletes in 9 selected sports: 2005-2009. Clin J Sport Med 2011; 21: 101-108 [PMID: 21358499 DOI: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e31820bd1b6]
- Frank RM, Romeo AA. Arthroscopic soft tissue reconstruction in anterior shoulder instability. Orthopade 2018; 47: 121-128 [PMID: 29435624 DOI: 10.1007/s00132-018-3532-9]
- Krøner K, Lind T, Jensen J. The epidemiology of shoulder dislocations. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 1989; 108: 288-290 [PMID: 2789505 DOI: 10.1007/BF00932317]
- Yeap JS, Lee DJ, Fazir M, Borhan TA, Kareem BA. The epidemiology of shoulder dislocations in Malaysia. Med J Malaysia 2004; 59 Suppl F: 19-23 [PMID: 15941156]
- Trojan JD, Meyer LE, Edgar CM, Brown SM, Mulcahey MK. Epidemiology of Shoulder Instability Injuries in Collision



Collegiate Sports From 2009 to 2014. Arthroscopy 2020; 36: 36-43 [PMID: 31864594 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2019.07.008]

- 11 Kraeutler MJ, McCarty EC, Belk JW, Wolf BR, Hettrich CM, Ortiz SF; MOON Shoulder Instability Group; Bravman JT; Baumgarten KM; Bishop JY; Bollier MJ; Brophy RH; Carey JL; Carpenter JE; Cox CL; Feeley BT; Grant JA; Jones GL; Kuhn JE; Kelly JD; Ma CB; Marx RG; Miller BS; Sennett BJ; Smith MV; Wright RW; Zhang AL. Descriptive Epidemiology of the MOON Shoulder Instability Cohort. Am J Sports Med 2018; 46: 1064-1069 [PMID: 29505730 DOI: 10.1177/0363546518755752
- 12 Romeo AA, Cohen BS, Carreira DS. Traumatic anterior shoulder instability. Orthop Clin North Am 2001; 32: 399-409 [PMID: 11888135 DOI: 10.1016/s0030-5898(05)70209-1]
- Bishop JA, Crall TS, Kocher MS. Operative versus nonoperative treatment after primary traumatic anterior glenohumeral 13 dislocation: expected-value decision analysis. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2011; 20: 1087-1094 [PMID: 21530321 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2011.01.031]
- 14 Handoll HH, Almaiyah MA, Rangan A. Surgical versus non-surgical treatment for acute anterior shoulder dislocation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004; CD004325 [PMID: 14974064 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004325.pub2]
- 15 Howell SM, Galinat BJ, Renzi AJ, Marone PJ. Normal and abnormal mechanics of the glenohumeral joint in the horizontal plane. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1988; 70: 227-232 [PMID: 3343267]
- Itoi E, Newman SR, Kuechle DK, Morrey BF, An KN. Dynamic anterior stabilisers of the shoulder with the arm in 16 abduction. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1994; 76: 834-836 [PMID: 8083280]
- Karduna AR, Williams GR, Williams JL, Iannotti JP. Kinematics of the glenohumeral joint: influences of muscle forces, 17 ligamentous constraints, and articular geometry. J Orthop Res 1996; 14: 986-993 [PMID: 8982143 DOI: 10.1002/jor.1100140620]
- 18 Kelkar R, Wang VM, Flatow EL, Newton PM, Ateshian GA, Bigliani LU, Pawluk RJ, Mow VC. Glenohumeral mechanics: a study of articular geometry, contact, and kinematics. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2001; 10: 73-84 [PMID: 11182740 DOI: 10.1067/mse.2001.111959]
- Poppen NK, Walker PS. Normal and abnormal motion of the shoulder. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1976; 58: 195-201 [PMID: 19 1254624]
- O'Brien SJ, Neves MC, Arnoczky SP, Rozbruck SR, Dicarlo EF, Warren RF, Schwartz R, Wickiewicz TL. The anatomy 20 and histology of the inferior glenohumeral ligament complex of the shoulder. Am J Sports Med 1990; 18: 449-456 [PMID: 2252083 DOI: 10.1177/036354659001800501]
- Provencher MT, Ghodadra N, Romeo AA. Arthroscopic management of anterior instability: pearls, pitfalls, and lessons 21 learned. Orthop Clin North Am 2010; 41: 325-337 [PMID: 20497809 DOI: 10.1016/j.ocl.2010.02.007]
- 22 Burkart AC, Debski RE. Anatomy and function of the glenohumeral ligaments in anterior shoulder instability. Clin Orthop *Relat Res*2002: 32-39 [PMID: 12072743 DOI: 10.1097/00003086-200207000-00005]
- 23 Soslowsky LJ, Malicky DM, Blasier RB. Active and passive factors in inferior glenohumeral stabilization: a biomechanical model. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 1997; 6: 371-379 [PMID: 9285877 DOI: 10.1016/s1058-2746(97)90005-7]
- 24 Turkel SJ, Panio MW, Marshall JL, Girgis FG. Stabilizing mechanisms preventing anterior dislocation of the glenohumeral joint. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1981; 63: 1208-1217 [PMID: 7287791]
- 25 Warner JJ, Deng XH, Warren RF, Torzilli PA. Static capsuloligamentous restraints to superior-inferior translation of the glenohumeral joint. Am J Sports Med 1992; 20: 675-685 [PMID: 1456361 DOI: 10.1177/036354659202000608]
- Rothman RH, Marvel JP Jr, Heppenstall RB. Anatomic considerations in glenohumeral joint. Orthop Clin North Am 1975; 26 6: 341-352 [PMID: 1093084]
- 27 Ferrari DA. Capsular ligaments of the shoulder. Anatomical and functional study of the anterior superior capsule. Am J Sports Med 1990; 18: 20-24 [PMID: 2301686 DOI: 10.1177/036354659001800103]
- 28 Bigliani LU, Newton PM, Steinmann SP, Connor PM, Mcllveen SJ. Glenoid rim lesions associated with recurrent anterior dislocation of the shoulder. Am J Sports Med 1998; 26: 41-45 [PMID: 9474399 DOI: 10.1177/03635465980260012301]
- Burkhart SS, De Beer JF. Traumatic glenohumeral bone defects and their relationship to failure of arthroscopic Bankart 29 repairs: significance of the inverted-pear glenoid and the humeral engaging Hill-Sachs lesion. Arthroscopy 2000; 16: 677-694 [PMID: 11027751 DOI: 10.1053/jars.2000.17715]
- 30 Burkhart SS, Danaceau SM. Articular arc length mismatch as a cause of failed bankart repair. Arthroscopy 2000; 16: 740-744 [PMID: 11027759 DOI: 10.1053/jars.2000.7794]
- 31 **Owens BD.** Dawson L, Burks R, Cameron KL, Incidence of shoulder dislocation in the United States military: demographic considerations from a high-risk population. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009; 91: 791-796 [PMID: 19339562 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.H.00514]
- Garcia GH, Liu JN, Dines DM, Dines JS. Effect of bone loss in anterior shoulder instability. World J Orthop 2015; 6: 421-32 433 [PMID: 26085984 DOI: 10.5312/wjo.v6.i5.421]
- Taylor DC, Krasinski KL. Adolescent shoulder injuries: consensus and controversies. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009; 91: 462-33 473 [PMID: 19181993]
- 34 Kralinger FS, Golser K, Wischatta R, Wambacher M, Sperner G. Predicting recurrence after primary anterior shoulder dislocation. Am J Sports Med 2002; 30: 116-120 [PMID: 11799007 DOI: 10.1177/03635465020300010501]
- Boileau P, Villalba M, Héry JY, Balg F, Ahrens P, Neyton L. Risk factors for recurrence of shoulder instability after 35 arthroscopic Bankart repair. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006; 88: 1755-1763 [PMID: 16882898 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.E.00817]
- 36 Yian EH, Weathers M, Knott JR, Sodl JF, Spencer HT. Predicting Failure After Primary Arthroscopic Bankart Repair: Analysis of a Statistical Model Using Anatomic Risk Factors. Arthroscopy 2020; 36: 964-970 [PMID: 31926270 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2019.11.109
- 37 Cetik O, Uslu M, Ozsar BK. The relationship between Hill-Sachs lesion and recurrent anterior shoulder dislocation. Acta Orthop Belg 2007; 73: 175-178 [PMID: 17515227]
- 38 Taylor DC, Arciero RA. Pathologic changes associated with shoulder dislocations. Arthroscopic and physical examination findings in first-time, traumatic anterior dislocations. Am J Sports Med 1997; 25: 306-311 [PMID: 9167808 DOI: 10.1177/036354659702500306]
- 39 Griffith JF, Antonio GE, Yung PS, Wong EM, Yu AB, Ahuja AT, Chan KM. Prevalence, pattern, and spectrum of glenoid



bone loss in anterior shoulder dislocation: CT analysis of 218 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2008; 190: 1247-1254 [PMID: 18430839 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.07.30091

- 40 Gerber C, Nyffeler RW. Classification of glenohumeral joint instability. Clin Orthop Relat Res2002: 65-76 [PMID: 12072747 DOI: 10.1097/00003086-200207000-00009]
- 41 Robinson CM, Dobson RJ. Anterior instability of the shoulder after trauma. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2004; 86: 469-479 [PMID: 15174539 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620x.86b4]
- Arciero RA, Parrino A, Bernhardson AS, Diaz-Doran V, Obopilwe E, Cote MP, Golijanin P, Mazzocca AD, Provencher 42 MT. The effect of a combined glenoid and Hill-Sachs defect on glenohumeral stability: a biomechanical cadaveric study using 3-dimensional modeling of 142 patients. Am J Sports Med 2015; 43: 1422-1429 [PMID: 25794869 DOI: 10.1177/0363546515574677
- 43 Yamamoto N, Itoi E, Abe H, Minagawa H, Seki N, Shimada Y, Okada K. Contact between the glenoid and the humeral head in abduction, external rotation, and horizontal extension: a new concept of glenoid track. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2007; 16: 649-656 [PMID: 17644006 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2006.12.012]
- Chen KH, Yang TC, Chiang ER, Wang HY, Ma HL. The Hill-Sachs interval to glenoid track width ratio is comparable to 44 the instability severity index score for predicting risk of recurrent instability after arthroscopic Bankart repair. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2020 [PMID: 32253482 DOI: 10.1007/s00167-020-05955-0]
- Hatta T, Yamamoto N, Shinagawa K, Kawakami J, Itoi E. Surgical decision making based on the on-track/off-track concept for anterior shoulder instability: a case-control study. JSES Open Access 2019; 3: 25-28 [PMID: 30976732 DOI: 10.1016/j.jses.2018.10.001
- Locher J, Wilken F, Beitzel K, Buchmann S, Longo UG, Denaro V, Imhoff AB. Hill-Sachs Off-track Lesions as Risk 46 Factor for Recurrence of Instability After Arthroscopic Bankart Repair. Arthroscopy 2016; 32: 1993-1999 [PMID: 27161511 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2016.03.005]
- Momaya AM, Tokish JM. Applying the Glenoid Track Concept in the Management of Patients with Anterior Shoulder 47 Instability. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med 2017; 10: 463-468 [PMID: 28994025 DOI: 10.1007/s12178-017-9436-1]
- 48 Shaha JS, Cook JB, Rowles DJ, Bottoni CR, Shaha SH, Tokish JM. Clinical Validation of the Glenoid Track Concept in Anterior Glenohumeral Instability. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2016; 98: 1918-1923 [PMID: 27852909 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.15.01099]
- Gill TJ, Micheli LJ, Gebhard F, Binder C. Bankart repair for anterior instability of the shoulder. Long-term outcome. J 49 Bone Joint Surg Am 1997; 79: 850-857 [PMID: 9199382 DOI: 10.2106/00004623-199706000-00008]
- 50 Guanche CA, Quick DC, Sodergren KM, Buss DD. Arthroscopic versus open reconstruction of the shoulder in patients with isolated Bankart lesions. Am J Sports Med 1996; 24: 144-148 [PMID: 8775110 DOI: 10.1177/036354659602400204]
- 51 Cole BJ, L'Insalata J, Irrgang J, Warner JJ. Comparison of arthroscopic and open anterior shoulder stabilization. A two to six-year follow-up study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2000; 82: 1108-1114 [PMID: 10954100 DOI: 10.2106/00004623-200008000-00007]
- Owens BD, DeBerardino TM, Nelson BJ, Thurman J, Cameron KL, Taylor DC, Uhorchak JM, Arciero RA. Long-term 52 follow-up of acute arthroscopic Bankart repair for initial anterior shoulder dislocations in young athletes. Am J Sports Med 2009; **37**: 669-673 [PMID: 19218560 DOI: 10.1177/0363546508328416]
- Bottoni CR, Smith EL, Berkowitz MJ, Towle RB, Moore JH. Arthroscopic versus open shoulder stabilization for recurrent 53 anterior instability: a prospective randomized clinical trial. Am J Sports Med 2006; 34: 1730-1737 [PMID: 16735589 DOI: 10.1177/0363546506288239
- Pickett A, Svoboda S. Anterior Glenohumeral Instability. Sports Med Arthrosc Rev 2017; 25: 156-162 [PMID: 28777219 DOI: 10.1097/JSA.000000000000157]
- Owens BD, Cameron KL, Peck KY, DeBerardino TM, Nelson BJ, Taylor DC, Tenuta J, Svoboda SJ. Arthroscopic Versus 55 Open Stabilization for Anterior Shoulder Subluxations. Orthop J Sports Med 2015; 3: 2325967115571084 [PMID: 26535374 DOI: 10.1177/2325967115571084]
- 56 Frank RM, Arciero RA, Erickson BJ, Trenhaile ST, Provencher MT, Verma NN. Shoulder Instability: An American Perspective. Instr Course Lect 2018; 67: 415-432 [PMID: 31411429]
- Owens BD, Harrast JJ, Hurwitz SR, Thompson TL, Wolf JM. Surgical trends in Bankart repair: an analysis of data from 57 the American Board of Orthopaedic Surgery certification examination. Am J Sports Med 2011; 39: 1865-1869 [PMID: 21628637 DOI: 10.1177/0363546511406869]
- Jørgensen U, Svend-Hansen H, Bak K, Pedersen I. Recurrent post-traumatic anterior shoulder dislocation--open versus 58 arthroscopic repair. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 1999; 7: 118-124 [PMID: 10223535 DOI: 10.1007/s001670050133]
- 59 Fabbriciani C, Milano G, Demontis A, Fadda S, Ziranu F, Mulas PD. Arthroscopic versus open treatment of Bankart lesion of the shoulder: a prospective randomized study. Arthroscopy 2004; 20: 456-462 [PMID: 15122134 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2004.03.001
- Castagna A, Delle Rose G, Borroni M, Cillis BD, Conti M, Garofalo R, Ferguson D, Portinaro N. Arthroscopic stabilization of the shoulder in adolescent athletes participating in overhead or contact sports. Arthroscopy 2012; 28: 309-315 [PMID: 22130494 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2011.08.302]
- van der Linde JA, van Kampen DA, Terwee CB, Dijksman LM, Kleinjan G, Willems WJ. Long-term results after 61 arthroscopic shoulder stabilization using suture anchors: an 8- to 10-year follow-up. Am J Sports Med 2011; 39: 2396-2403 [PMID: 21803980 DOI: 10.1177/0363546511415657]
- Castagna A, Markopoulos N, Conti M, Delle Rose G, Papadakou E, Garofalo R. Arthroscopic bankart suture-anchor repair: radiological and clinical outcome at minimum 10 years of follow-up. Am J Sports Med 2010; 38: 2012-2016 [PMID: 20595552 DOI: 10.1177/0363546510372614]
- Plath JE, Aboalata M, Seppel G, Juretzko J, Waldt S, Vogt S, Imhoff AB. Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Dislocation 63 Arthropathy: Radiological Long-term Outcome of Arthroscopic Bankart Repair in 100 Shoulders at an Average 13-Year Follow-up. Am J Sports Med 2015; 43: 1084-1090 [PMID: 25731974 DOI: 10.1177/0363546515570621]
- Moroder P, Odorizzi M, Pizzinini S, Demetz E, Resch H, Moroder P. Open Bankart Repair for the Treatment of Anterior



Shoulder Instability without Substantial Osseous Glenoid Defects: Results After a Minimum Follow-up of Twenty Years. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2015; 97: 1398-1405 [PMID: 26333734 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.N.01214]

- 65 Cho NS, Yi JW, Lee BG, Rhee YG. Revision open Bankart surgery after arthroscopic repair for traumatic anterior shoulder instability. Am J Sports Med 2009; 37: 2158-2164 [PMID: 19776342 DOI: 10.1177/0363546509339015]
- 66 Sisto DJ. Revision of failed arthroscopic bankart repairs. Am J Sports Med 2007; 35: 537-541 [PMID: 17244898 DOI: 10.1177/0363546506296520]
- Neviaser AS, Benke MT, Neviaser RJ. Open Bankart repair for revision of failed prior stabilization: outcome analysis at a 67 mean of more than 10 years. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2015; 24: 897-901 [PMID: 25498480 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2014.11.036]
- Di Giacomo G, Itoi E, Burkhart SS. Evolving concept of bipolar bone loss and the Hill-Sachs lesion: from "engaging/non-68 engaging" lesion to "on-track/off-track" lesion. Arthroscopy 2014; 30: 90-98 [PMID: 24384275 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2013.10.004]
- Di Giacomo G, de Gasperis N, Costantini A, De Vita A, Beccaglia MA, Pouliart N. Does the presence of glenoid bone loss 69 influence coracoid bone graft osteolysis after the Latarjet procedure? J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2014; 23: 514-518 [PMID: 24406124 DOI: 10.1016/j.jse.2013.10.005]
- Provencher MT, Bhatia S, Ghodadra NS, Grumet RC, Bach BR Jr, Dewing CB, LeClere L, Romeo AA. Recurrent shoulder instability: current concepts for evaluation and management of glenoid bone loss. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2010; 92 Suppl 2: 133-151 [PMID: 21123597 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.J.00906]
- Burkhart SS, Debeer JF, Tehrany AM, Parten PM. Quantifying glenoid bone loss arthroscopically in shoulder instability. 71 Arthroscopy 2002; 18: 488-491 [PMID: 11987058 DOI: 10.1053/jars.2002.32212]
- 72 Itoi E, Lee SB, Berglund LJ, Berge LL, An KN. The effect of a glenoid defect on anteroinferior stability of the shoulder after Bankart repair: a cadaveric study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2000; 82: 35-46 [PMID: 10653082 DOI: 10.2106/00004623-200001000-00005
- 73 Shaha JS, Cook JB, Song DJ, Rowles DJ, Bottoni CR, Shaha SH, Tokish JM. Redefining "Critical" Bone Loss in Shoulder Instability: Functional Outcomes Worsen With "Subcritical" Bone Loss. Am J Sports Med 2015; 43: 1719-1725 [PMID: 25883168 DOI: 10.1177/03635465155782501
- 74 Skendzel JG, Sekiya JK. Diagnosis and management of humeral head bone loss in shoulder instability. Am J Sports Med 2012; 40: 2633-2644 [PMID: 22343756 DOI: 10.1177/0363546512437314]
- 75 Bühler M, Gerber C. Shoulder instability related to epileptic seizures. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2002; 11: 339-344 [PMID: 12195251 DOI: 10.1067/mse.2002.124524]
- 76 Yang TC, Chen KH, Chiang ER, Chang MC, Ma HL. Using the "Hill-Sachs interval to glenoid track width ratio" for prediction of recurrent instability after arthroscopic Bankart repair. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res 2018; 104: 797-801 [PMID: 29654932 DOI: 10.1016/j.otsr.2018.02.013]
- 77 Metzger PD, Barlow B, Leonardelli D, Peace W, Solomon DJ, Provencher MT. Clinical Application of the "Glenoid Track" Concept for Defining Humeral Head Engagement in Anterior Shoulder Instability: A Preliminary Report. Orthop J Sports Med 2013; 1: 2325967113496213 [PMID: 26535236 DOI: 10.1177/2325967113496213]
- Balg F, Boileau P. The instability severity index score. A simple pre-operative score to select patients for arthroscopic or 78 open shoulder stabilisation. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2007; 89: 1470-1477 [PMID: 17998184 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.89B11.18962
- 79 Boughebri O, Maqdes A, Moraiti C, Dib C, Leclère FM, Valenti P. Results of 45 arthroscopic Bankart procedures: Does the ISIS remain a reliable prognostic assessment after 5 years? Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2015; 25: 709-716 [PMID: 25480327 DOI: 10.1007/s00590-014-1562-5]
- Loppini M, Delle Rose G, Borroni M, Morenghi E, Pitino D, Domínguez Zamora C, Castagna A. Is the Instability Severity 80 Index Score a Valid Tool for Predicting Failure After Primary Arthroscopic Stabilization for Anterior Glenohumeral Instability? Arthroscopy 2019; 35: 361-366 [PMID: 30611589 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2018.09.027]
- Phadnis J, Arnold C, Elmorsy A, Flannery M. Utility of the Instability Severity Index Score in Predicting Failure After 81 Arthroscopic Anterior Stabilization of the Shoulder. Am J Sports Med 2015; 43: 1983-1988 [PMID: 26122385 DOI: 10.1177/0363546515587083]
- Thomazeau H, Courage O, Barth J, Pélégri C, Charousset C, Lespagnol F, Nourissat G, Audebert S, Guillo S, Toussaint B, 82 Lafosse L, Bradel J, Veillard D, Boileau P; French Arthroscopy Society. Can we improve the indication for Bankart arthroscopic repair? Orthop Traumatol Surg Res 2010; 96: S77-S83 [PMID: 21035419 DOI: 10.1016/j.otsr.2010.09.007]
- Thomazeau H, Langlais T, Hardy A, Curado J, Herisson O, Mouton J, Charousset C, Courage O; French Arthroscopy 83 Society; Nourissat G. Long-term, Prospective, Multicenter Study of Isolated Bankart Repair for a Patient Selection Method Based on the Instability Severity Index Score. Am J Sports Med 2019; 47: 1057-1061 [PMID: 30883182 DOI: 10.1177/0363546519833920]
- Barnes L, Parsons B, Lippitt S, Flatow E, FA M. Glenohumeral Instability. In: Rockwood Jr C, Matsen F, Wirth M, 84 Lippitt S, Fehringer E, Sperling J. Rockwood and Matsen's The Shoulder. 5th ed. Elsevier, 2017: 543-649
- 85 Beighton P, Horan F. Orthopaedic aspects of the Ehlers-Danlos syndrome. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1969; 51: 444-453 [PMID: 5820785
- 86 Carroll KW, Helms CA. Magnetic resonance imaging of the shoulder: a review of potential sources of diagnostic errors. Skeletal Radiol 2002; 31: 373-383 [PMID: 12107570 DOI: 10.1007/s00256-002-0528-6]
- 87 Motamedi D, Everist BM, Mahanty SR, Steinbach LS. Pitfalls in shoulder MRI: part 1--normal anatomy and anatomic variants. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2014; 203: 501-507 [PMID: 25148152 DOI: 10.2214/AJR.14.12848]
- Frank RM, Saccomanno MF, McDonald LS, Moric M, Romeo AA, Provencher MT. Outcomes of arthroscopic anterior shoulder instability in the beach chair versus lateral decubitus position: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Arthroscopy 2014; 30: 1349-1365 [PMID: 25000864 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2014.05.008]
- 89 Frank RM, Mall NA, Gupta D, Shewman E, Wang VM, Romeo AA, Cole BJ, Bach BR Jr, Provencher MT, Verma NN. Inferior suture anchor placement during arthroscopic Bankart repair: influence of portal placement and curved drill guide. Am J Sports Med 2014; 42: 1182-1189 [PMID: 24576744 DOI: 10.1177/0363546514523722]



WJD

World Journal of **Orthopedics**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Orthop 2021 January 18; 12(1): 14-23

DOI: 10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.14

Observational Study

ISSN 2218-5836 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Ceramic-on-ceramic vs ceramic-on-polyethylene, a comparative study with 10-year follow-up

Justin van Loon, Daniël Hoornenborg, Harm M van der Vis, Inger N Sierevelt, Kim TM Opdam, Gino MMJ Kerkhoffs, Daniël Haverkamp

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Li J

Received: August 5, 2020 Peer-review started: August 5, 2020 First decision: November 4, 2020 Revised: November 4, 2020 Accepted: November 12, 2020 Article in press: November 12, 2020 Published online: January 18, 2021



Justin van Loon, Daniël Hoornenborg, Harm M van der Vis, Inger N Sierevelt, Daniël Haverkamp, Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Xpert Orthopedie Amsterdam/SCORE (Specialized Center of Orthopedic Research and Education), Amsterdam 1101EA, The Netherlands

Justin van Loon, Kim TM Opdam, Gino MMJ Kerkhoffs, Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Amsterdam University Medical Centres, location Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam 1105AZ, The Netherlands

Inger N Sierevelt, Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Spaarne Gasthuis, Hoofddorp 2134TM, The Netherlands

Corresponding author: Daniël Haverkamp, MD, PhD, Doctor, Postdoc, Surgeon, Department of Orthopedic Surgery, Xpert Orthopedie Amsterdam/SCORE (Specialized Center of Orthopedic Research and Education), Laarderhoogtweg 12, Amsterdam 1101EA, The Netherlands. d.haverkamp@xpertorthopedie.nl

Abstract

BACKGROUND

In press-fit total hip arthroplasty (THA) ceramic-on-ceramic (CoC) bearings are a potential for overcoming the wear that is seen in ceramic-on-polyethylene (CoPE) bearings, and can lead to wear-induced osteolysis, resulting in loosening of the implant. However, CoC bearings show disadvantages as well, such as squeaking sounds and being more fragile, which can cause ceramic head or liner fracture. Because comparative long-term studies are limited, the objective of this study was to determine the long-term difference in wear, identify potential predictive factors for wear, investigate radiological findings such as osteolysis, and evaluate clinical functioning and complications between these bearings.

AIM

To determine 10-year differences in wear, predictive factors for wear, and investigate radiological findings and clinical functioning between CoC and CoPE.

METHODS

This observational prospective single-center cohort study with a 10-year followup includes a documented series of elective THAs. Primary outcome was wear measured by anteroposterior (AP) radiographs. Secondary outcomes were potential predictive factors for wear, complications during follow-up, Harris hip



score (HHS), and radiological findings such as presence of radiolucency, osteolysis, atrophy, and hypertrophy around the cup. Due to the absence of wear in the CoC group, stratified analysis to identify risk factors for wear was only performed in the CoPE group by use of univariate linear regression analysis. HHS was expressed as a change from baseline and the association with bearing type was assessed by use of multivariate linear regression analysis, adjusted for potential confounders.

RESULTS

A total of 17 CoPE (63.0%) and 25 CoC (73.5%) cases were available for follow-up and showed a linear wear of respectively 0.130 mm/year (range 0.010; 0.350) and 0.000 mm/year (range 0.000; (0.005), which was significant (P < 0.001) between both groups. Wear always occurred in the cranial direction. Cup inclination was the only predictive factor for polyethylene (PE) wear. No dislocations, ceramic head, or liner fractures were seen. The HHS showed a mean change from baseline of 37.1 points (SD 18.5) in the CoPE group and 43.9 (SD 17.0) in the CoC group. This crude difference of 6.8 (range -5.2; 18.7) in favor of the CoC group was not significant (P = 0.26) and was not significant when adjusted for age, gender, and diagnosis either (P = 0.99). No significant differences in complications and radiological findings were seen between groups.

CONCLUSION

CoC bearing shows lower wear rates compared to CoPE at 10-year follow-up with cup inclination as a predictive factor for wear and no differences in complications, HHS, and radiological findings.

Key Words: Total hip arthroplasty; Press-fit; Bearing; Ceramic-on-ceramic; Ceramic-on-polyethylene; Wear

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Polyethylene wear of the acetabular insert can cause osteolysis and aseptic loosening of the implant in total hip arthroplasty. Ceramic-on-ceramic (CoC) bearing can overcome this problem, but comparative long-term data between ceramic-on-polyethylene (CoPE) and CoC are limited. This 10-year follow-up study showed higher wear rates in CoPE with cup inclination as a predictive factor for wear. No differences in complications, radiological findings, and clinical scores were seen. To confirm the potential benefits of CoC bearing focusing on wear and survival rates of the implant, more long-term data are needed.

Citation: van Loon J, Hoornenborg D, van der Vis HM, Sierevelt IN, Opdam KT, Kerkhoffs GM, Haverkamp D. Ceramic-on-ceramic vs ceramic-on-polyethylene, a comparative study with 10-year follow-up. World J Orthop 2021; 12(1): 14-23

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-5836/full/v12/i1/14.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.14

INTRODUCTION

Total hip arthroplasty (THA) is considered the operation of the century, but the search for the ideal articulation is still a point of discussion[1]. Several bearing surfaces have been developed in the past to reduce causes for revision. Polyethylene (PE) or highly cross-linked PE (HXLPE) inlay combined with a ceramic head still remains the option of choice[2]. Therefore, the use of a ceramic-on-polyethylene (CoPE) articulation increased with almost 20% in the last decade up to 63.4% of all THAs as seen in the Dutch Arthroplasty Register in 2019[3].

Wear rates of PE are widely investigated, since wear-induced osteolysis resulting in aseptic loosening still remains one of the main causes of late revision [4,5]. The threshold of 0.05 mm/year was eventually stated to eliminate osteolysis, but recent long-term results showed that even wear rates below this threshold in both PE and HXLPE are associated with osteolysis[6,7]. Ceramic-on-ceramic (CoC) bearings are a potential to overcome this problem, with lower wear rates and incidence of osteolysis than CoPE [8]. However, CoC bearings show disadvantages as well, such as a squeaking sound and being more fragile, which can cause fracture of both the head and the inlay and makes revision THA challenging[9, 10].

Comparative long-term studies are needed to confirm if the aforementioned disadvantages of both bearings will be reflected in accompanying revision rates, clinical functioning, and radiological findings over time. Recent systematic reviews have shown that more data and especially more research focused on long-term are required to clarify clinical advantages of both bearings[11,12].



The objective of this study was to determine the long-term difference in wear, identify potential predictive factors for wear, investigate radiological findings such as osteolysis, and evaluate clinical functioning and complications between CoC bearing vs CoPE in THA when using the same implants with a 10 years follow-up.

Our hypotheses were that CoPE would show higher wear rates than CoC and no differences would be observed in radiological findings, clinical functioning and complications.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical approval/registration

No ethical approval was needed for this observational prospective cohort study because this documented series was part of the normal follow-up of elective THAs. Reporting was done in accordance with the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement. This research was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study design

This observational prospective single center cohort study with 10-year follow-up included a documented series of elective THAs performed between December 2003 and December 2004 comparing the EP-FIT PLUS press-fit cup system with ceramic insert (BIOLOX delta, Smith and Nephew) to standard PE acetabular inserts (Standard REXPOL, Smith and Nephew) with similar ceramic head (BIOLOX delta, Smith and Nephew) articulation. No randomization was performed in this study. The choice between PE or ceramic insert depended on patient characteristics and the experienced orthopedic surgeons' preferences. All patients included were seen in a standard follow-up scheme with X-rays at baseline, 3, 12, 36, 60, and 120 mo post-operatively. After surgery, a standard postoperative rehabilitation protocol under guidance of a physical therapist consisted of immediate weightbearing and crutches for 6 wk. All outcomes were analyzed by a reviewer and checked by a second researcher who were both not involved in the selection, surgery, and follow-up process.

Eligibility

All indications for THA included in this study were primary osteoarthritis (OA), degeneration due to rheumatoid arthritis or other inflammatory arthritis, avascular necrosis and hip dysplasia. Patients were included after completing verbal informed consent. Patients with secondary OA due to trauma, infection of the hip, osteoporosis or a prior osteotomy or arthroplasty were excluded from this study. No a priori power analysis was performed.

Surgical procedure

All THAs were performed at Slotervaart Medical Center by experienced orthopedic surgeons using a straight lateral approach under standard antibiotic prophylaxis. The surgical approach was according to the surgical technique described by the manufacturer of the implants. The same uncemented acetabular cup (EP-FIT PLUS, Smith and Nephew) was used in all patients. This cup is an equatorial flattened press-fit cup design with an open porous titanium vacuum plasma coating to increase roughness, with initial fixation by 2%-3% oversizing. A non-cemented Zweymuller titanium rectangular tapered shape femoral stem (SL-PLUS, Smith and Nephew) was used as femur component in all cases in combination with a ceramic head articulation (BIOLOX delta, Smith and Nephew). A 32 mm and 28 mm head were respectively used in CoC and CoPE bearing. The liner being used was either a ceramic insert (BIOLOX delta, Smith and Nephew) or a standard PE acetabular insert (Standard PE, Smith and Nephew). Both the ceramic head and liner are made of a zirconia toughened alumina ceramic alloy, a fourth-generation ceramic material. The aimed leg length and femoral offset was measured accordingly to be identical to the contralateral side.

Outcomes

Patient demographics were recorded at baseline, including age, gender, body mass index (BMI), indication for surgery (primary OA or other diagnosis), and operation side. Information regarding the operation was recorded as well including articulation, head size, and cup inclination in degrees on direct post-operative radiographs. Perioperative and complications during follow-up like ceramic articulation fractures, squeaking and dislocations were directly registered.

The primary outcome was wear in mm/year measured by an independent orthopedic surgeon, by consecutive radiography using standard weightbearing anterior-posterior radiographs. By using the penetration and the size of the head, the thickness of the inlay was calculated. The method being used as demonstrated in Figure 1, is widely used and first described and validated by Charnley et al[13]. The width of the narrowest part of the inlay in the proximal weightbearing region (B) was subtracted from the widest part in the distal non-weightbearing area (A) and halved. With this formula, wear = (A - A)B)/2, wear was calculated as cranial migration in mm. These outcomes were used to calculate linear





Figure 1 Method of wear measurement with center of rotation (red), boundaries of the cup (blue) and head (orange) and line for measurement of inclination angle (black). A: Widest distal part of inlay; B: Narrowest proximal part of the inlay.

> wear rates in mm/year. As an example, if no wear occurs, the thickness of the inlay is the same in all directions. Hereby the difference between the measurement of A and B is zero, meaning that there is no cranial migration and hereby no wear. If wear increases and more cranial migration is seen, the measurement of B will become lower and A will increase due to a wider distal part, resulting in a greater difference between both values (Figure 1). As a secondary outcome, potential predictive factors for wear such as gender, age, operation side, BMI, diagnosis (primary OA vs other), cup size, and cup inclination were determined. The Harris hip score (HHS) was used as a clinical questionnaire to measure patient reported outcomes[14]. Radiographs were evaluated by two researchers to determine presence of radiolucency, osteolysis, atrophy, and hypertrophy around the cup in Zones I-III according to DeLee et al[15].

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, New York, United States). Normally distributed continuous variables are stated as mean with standard deviation (SD) and tested by use of Student's t-test. In case of non-normality medians with interquartile ranges are presented and a Mann-Whitney U test was used to asses for significant differences between both groups. Categorical data were compared by use of chi-squared tests. Due to the absence of wear in the CoC group, stratified analysis to identify risk factors for wear was only performed in the CoPE group by use of univariate linear regression analyses. HHS was expressed as a change from baseline and the association with bearing type was assessed by use of multivariate linear regression analysis, adjusted for potential confounders (*i.e.* age, sex, and diagnosis). Differences were stated significant if P values were less than 0.05. Complications and radiological findings were expressed as frequencies with percentage. All statistical methods in this study were done by a biomedical statistical expert (Inger N Sierevelt).

RESULTS

A total of 61 patients receiving THAs were included in this study at baseline (Figure 2). A significant difference in age and distribution of diagnosis (primary OA vs other) between both groups was observed (Table 1). A total of 17 CoPE (63.0%) and 25 CoC (73.5%) cases were available for 10-year follow-up. Intra-operative trochanteric fracture occurred in one case (4%) in the CoPE group and two (6%) in the CoC group, and were treated with a trochanteric wire. Delayed wound healing was seen in two (8%) and four (13%) patients in the CoPE and CoC group, respectively. Temporary peroneal nerve injury was observed in the CoPE group in two cases (7.4%). During follow-up, one periprosthetic joint infection (3%) was seen in the CoC group, which was initially treated with lavage and antibiotics; however, removal of the implant was done elsewhere after 3 years of follow-up. Femoral component loosening was the reason for one revision in both groups, treated by revision of the stem and inlay elsewhere in the CoC case and in our clinic in the CoPE patient. No dislocations, squeaking, and fracture of the ceramic liner were observed. A total of two revisions were planned in the CoPE group after the 10-year follow-up due to complaints combined with excessive wear. All complications showed no significant differences between both groups.

Primary outcome

After 10 years of follow-up, the median linear wear of CoPE and CoC bearing was 0.130 mm/year (range 0.010; 0.350) and 0.000 mm/year (range 0.000; 0.005), respectively. Wear always occurred in the



able 1 Baseline characteristics and operation information						
	CoPE, <i>n</i> = 27 (100%)	CoC, <i>n</i> = 34 (100%)	P value			
Female gender, n (%)	21 (78%)	22 (65%)	0.27			
Right side, n (%)	19 (76%)	17 (50%)	0.11			
Diagnosis, n (%)			0.01			
Primary OA	23 (85%)	19 (56%)				
Other	4 (15%)	15 (44%)				
Age, in years, mean (SD)	64.2 (5.3)	55.7 (8.5)	< 0.001			
BMI, in kg/m ² mean (SD)	27.6 (4.1)	26.9 (4.1)	0.52			
Cup size in mm, mean (SD)	52.1 (3.4)	53.6 (3.5)	0.10			
Inclination cup in degrees, mean (SD)	46.8 (6.7)	44.6 (5.0)	0.22			
HHS, mean (SD)	50.2 (13.3)	47.5 (13.4)	0.44			

BMI: Body mass index; CoPE: Ceramic-on-polyethylene; CoC: Ceramic-on-ceramic; HHS: Harris hip score; OA: Osteoarthritis; SD: Standard deviation.



Figure 2 Flowchart of 10-year follow-up.

cranial direction. In two patients in the CoC group, wear of 0.05 mm was measured, in all other cases, no wear was observed. The difference in wear between both groups was significant (P < 0.001).

Secondary outcomes

The results of the stratified analysis to identify risk factors for wear in the CoPE group are shown in Table 2. Increased cup inclination was the only predictive factor for PE wear in CoPE bearing.

The HHS score showed a mean change from baseline of 37.1 points (SD 18.5) in the CoPE group and 43.9 (SD 17.0) in the CoC group. This crude difference of 6.8 (range -5.2; 18.7) in favor of the CoC group was not significant (P = 0.26). When adjusted for age, gender, and diagnosis (primary OA vs other), a mean difference of -0.02 (range -14.7; 14.7) was seen, which was not significant either (P = 0.99).

The radiological findings in the periacetabular cup zones are shown in Table 3. These outcomes showed no significant differences between both groups.

DISCUSSION

The main finding of this observational prospective cohort study of 61 THAs with 17 CoPE and 25 CoC cases available for 10-year follow-up was a significantly different degree of wear between the CoPE and CoC, with values of 0.130 mm/year (range 0.010; 0.350) and 0.000 mm/year (range 0.000; 0.005),



Table 2 Potential predictive values for polyethylene wear in beta-coefficient (range)						
Potential predictive factors for PE wear	Beta-coefficient (95%CI)	<i>P</i> value				
Gender	0.06 (-1.18; 1.29)	0.93				
Age	-0.01 (-0.10; 0.08)	0.82				
Operation side	-0.40 (-1.53; 0.73)	0.46				
BMI	-0.05 (-0.20; 0.10)	0.46				
Diagnosis, primary OA vs other	1.10 (-0.42; 2.61)	0.14				
Cup size	-0.06 (-0.23; 0.12)	0.52				
Cup inclination	0.08 (0.02; 0.15)	0.02				

BMI: Body mass index; CI: Confidence interval; OA: Osteoarthritis; PE: Polyethylene.

Table 3 Radiological findings in DeLee and Charnley zones I, II and III at 10-yr							
	CoPE, <i>n</i> = 17		CoC, <i>n</i> = 25				
Zones	I	I	ш	I	II	III	
Radiolucent lines	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Osteolysis cup	0	1 (6%)	0	2 (8%)	3 (12%)	0	
Atrophy	2 (12%)	3 (18%)	0	5 (19%)	5 (19%)	0	
Hypertrophy	0	0	0	0	0	0	

CoPE: Ceramic-on-polyethylene; CoC: Ceramic-on-ceramic.

respectively in the cranial direction. Comparable significant differences in wear rates were seen in the literature in both the short and long-term[8,16]. Conventional PE inlays have been improved by crosslinking to improve wear rates, but CoC bearings still show the lowest wear rates[17-19]. Therefore, longterm follow-up is required to assess whether differences in wear will result in different survival rates. Although survival was not the focus of our study, to the best of our knowledge, the literature has only one comparative study with 12.6 years of follow-up showing no differences between CoC and CoHXLPE[18]. Studies that only focused on CoPE and CoHXLPE showed long-term survival rates of 86% and 100%, respectively, at 13 years and 88.3% and 93.8%, respectively, at 16 years [20,21]. Long-term studies that focused only on CoC showed divergent survival rates, with a 15-year follow-up study showing a survival rate of 92%, whereas another 20 years of follow-up showed a survival rate of 99.7% [22,23]. Our wear rate results combined with the revision rates in the literature indicated a possible advantage of ceramic coupling over PE, which needs to be confirmed with longer follow-up studies of at least 20 years.

The low wear and revision rates of CoC in the longer term become highly relevant since a rise in prevalence of THA and a shift to younger age is seen over the last decades^[24]. Moreover, our study shows that patients receiving CoC articulation were significantly younger. Since life expectancy is still increasing worldwide, further research is needed to show if CoC can improve the longevity of THAs [25].

Our study showed that a higher inclination angle of the cup is a significant risk factor for wear. The same results are seen in the literature, with inclination angles above 45 degrees [26-28]. Since the mean angle of CoPE in our group was above this angle, it supports that acetabular positioning is highly important to reduce wear of CoPE.

In addition, inclination angles above 45 degrees are related to the higher incidence of squeaking in CoC[29,30]. In the literature, the incidence of squeaking is significantly higher in CoC than CoPE and varies between 0.5% and 20% and can influence the satisfaction of patients[11,12,31]. Although the mean angle of inclination in CoC in our study was just below the 45 degrees, no squeaking was reported.

Since the introduction of CoC, fracture of the ceramic, which was seen more often than in CoPE, was one of the greatest concerns against using this articulation[11,12]. A recent long-term meta-analysis showed that improvement of the ceramic over time led to lower fracture rates [32]. Additionally, in the literature, fourth-generation ceramic bearings showed no ceramic fracture when compared to thirdgeneration CoC[33]. Since we used a fourth-generation ceramic bearing, this might be a reason that no head or liner fractures occurred in our study[32,33].



Another complication that influences long-term outcomes is dislocation, which can be caused by wear and malpositioning[34,35]. In the literature, a trend is seen in favor to CoC over CoPE[11,12]. Although no dislocations were seen in our study, the higher wear rate and wider angles of inclination presented in CoPE can indicate an increased risk of dislocation, which might become significant in the longer term.

In our study, no differences in radiological findings such as osteolysis were seen, which was supported by recent systematic reviews comparing CoC and CoPE[11,12]. Longer follow-up is needed to see if differences in osteolysis will occur over time.

No significant differences in clinical outcomes on the HHS were seen in our study. Since comparable scores on the HHS were seen in systematic reviews, there is no preference for one of the bearings based on functioning[11,12].

Finally, ceramic inserts are more expensive than PE, which might be an important issue in decision making in modern healthcare systems with an increasing focus on healthcare costs. Beaupre *et al*[36] stated that the costs of ceramic inserts were three times higher. To the best of our knowledge, no costanalyses are performed in the literature between CoC and Co(HXL)PE. Long-term analysis needs to clarify if differences in outcomes, complication, and revision rates are cost-effective to the costs of both bearings.

A strength of our study is that we provided comparative results of a fourth-generation ceramic bearing, which are limited in the literature including wear, clinical, and radiological results. A limitation of our study was that no randomization was performed, which can have consequences for the comparability of the groups and might give indication bias. Moreover, a high loss to follow-up was seen in this study. Wear measurements were done using standard AP radiographs, which is a valid method, but is subsidiary to radiostereometric analysis (RSA)[37]. For example, we measured wear in two cases of CoC, which might be an error. Finally, no HXLPE was used, which is currently preferred when using a CoPE bearing.

CONCLUSION

In this study, higher wear rates were observed in CoPE compared to CoC bearing in THA at the 10-year follow-up, with cup inclination as a predictive factor for wear for CoPE bearing, and no differences in complications, HHS, and radiological findings. More long-term comparative studies are needed to confirm potential benefits of CoC bearing, which might be the preference in THA focused on wear and survival rates, especially in younger patients.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Ceramic-on-ceramic (CoC) bearing in total hip arthroplasty (THA) is presumed to give lower wear rates in vivo, compared to ceramic-on-polyethylene (CoPE).

Research motivation

More in vivo long-term studies are needed in literature, to confirm potential benefits or disadvantages of CoC over CoPE.

Research objectives

The objective of this study was to determine the 10-year difference in wear, identify potential predictive factors for wear, investigate radiological findings such as osteolysis, evaluate clinical functioning and complications between CoC bearing vs CoPE when using the same implants.

Research methods

An observational prospective single-center cohort study with 10-year follow-up of a documented series of elective THAs was performed with either a ceramic (BIOLOX delta, Smith and Nephew) or a standard PE acetabular insert (Standard REXPOL, Smith and Nephew) with a similar ceramic head (BIOLOX delta, Smith and Nephew) articulation.

Research results

Higher wear rates were observed in CoPE compared to CoC bearing after 10-year follow-up with cup inclination as a predictive factor for wear for CoPE bearing, and no differences in complications, Harris hip score, and radiological findings.

Research conclusions

The potential benefit of CoC over CoPE at the 10-year follow-up is less wear with cup inclination as a



predictive factor for wear, without differences in clinical or radiological outcomes.

Research perspectives

Further investigation of wear, revision, and complication rates between CoC and CoPE, especially in the long-term, should be done, to confirm potential benefits of CoC over CoPE and to prove if it can improve the longevity of THAs. In addition, long-term analysis needs to clarify if differences in outcomes, complication, and revision rates are cost-effective to the costs of both bearings.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: All authors contributed to the study conception and design; Haverkamp D, Hoornenborg D, and van der Vis HM were involved in the follow-up after the surgical procedures; van Loon J and Sierevelt IN performed the data collection and analyses; van Loon J wrote the first draft of the manuscript; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This observational prospective single-center cohort study with a 10-year followup was part of the normal follow-up of a documented series of elective THAs. Therefore, no ethical approval was needed for this study. Moreover, the analysis used anonymous data that were obtained after each patient agreed to the operation by written consent.

Informed consent statement: All study participants, or their legal guardian, provided informed written consent for the operation.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement-checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement-checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: The Netherlands

ORCID number: Justin van Loon 0000-0001-5009-1500; Daniël Hoornenborg 0000-0002-8624-7885; Harm M van der Vis 0000-0002-4397-0053; Inger N Sierevelt 0000-0003-0924-9358; Kim TM Opdam 0000-0002-3784-7876; Gino MMJ Kerkhoffs 0000-0001-7910-7123; Daniël Haverkamp 0000-0001-7360-9763.

S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Xing YX

REFERENCES

- 1 Learmonth ID, Young C, Rorabeck C. The operation of the century: total hip replacement. Lancet 2007; 370: 1508-1519 [PMID: 17964352 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60457-7]
- Haverkamp D. The latest information on total hip arthroplasty bearing surfaces. Minerva Ortop Traumatol 2009; 60: 233-2 240
- Dutch National Arthroplasty Register (LROI) Annual Report. 2019. Available from: https://www.lroi-3 report.nl/previous-reports/online-lroi-report-2019
- McCalden RW, MacDonald SJ, Rorabeck CH, Bourne RB, Chess DG, Charron KD. Wear rate of highly cross-linked polyethylene in total hip arthroplasty. A randomized controlled trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2009; 91: 773-782 [PMID: 19339560 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.H.00244]
- 5 Mori T, Tsukamoto M. Highly cross-linked polyethylene in total hip arthroplasty, present and future. Ann Jt 2018; 3 [DOI: 10.21037/aoi.2018.07.05
- Broomfield JA, Malak TT, Thomas GE, Palmer AJ, Taylor A, Glyn-Jones S. The Relationship Between Polyethylene 6 Wear and Periprosthetic Osteolysis in Total Hip Arthroplasty at 12 Years in a Randomized Controlled Trial Cohort. J Arthroplasty 2017; 32: 1186-1191 [PMID: 27998657 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2016.10.037]
- 7 Dumbleton JH, Manley MT, Edidin AA. A literature review of the association between wear rate and osteolysis in total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2002; 17: 649-661 [PMID: 12168184 DOI: 10.1054/arth.2002.33664]



- 8 Hernigou P, Zilber S, Filippini P, Poignard A. Ceramic-ceramic bearing decreases osteolysis: a 20-year study versus ceramic-polyethylene on the contralateral hip. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2009; 467: 2274-2280 [PMID: 19283439 DOI: 10.1007/s11999-009-0773-2
- 9 Howard DP, Wall PDH, Fernandez MA, Parsons H, Howard PW. Ceramic-on-ceramic bearing fractures in total hip arthroplasty: an analysis of data from the National Joint Registry. Bone Joint J 2017; 99-B: 1012-1019 [PMID: 28768777 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.99B8.BJJ-2017-0019.R11
- Yang CC, Kim RH, Dennis DA. The squeaking hip: a cause for concern-disagrees. Orthopedics 2007; 30: 739-742 [PMID: 10 17899918 DOI: 10.3928/01477447-20070901-33]
- Dong YL, Li T, Xiao K, Bian YY, Weng XS. Ceramic on Ceramic or Ceramic-on-polyethylene for Total Hip Arthroplasty: 11 A Systemic Review and Meta-analysis of Prospective Randomized Studies. Chin Med J (Engl) 2015; 128: 1223-1231 [PMID: 25947407 DOI: 10.4103/0366-6999.156136]
- 12 Hu D, Yang X, Tan Y, Alaidaros M, Chen L. Ceramic-on-ceramic versus ceramic-on-polyethylene bearing surfaces in total hip arthroplasty. Orthopedics 2015; 38: e331-e338 [PMID: 25901628 DOI: 10.3928/01477447-20150402-63]
- Charnley J, Halley DK. Rate of wear in total hip replacement. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1975; (112): 170-179 [PMID: 13 1192630
- Harris WH. Traumatic arthritis of the hip after dislocation and acetabular fractures: treatment by mold arthroplasty. An 14 end-result study using a new method of result evaluation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1969; 51: 737-755 [PMID: 5783851]
- 15 DeLee JG, Charnley J. Radiological demarcation of cemented sockets in total hip replacement. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1976; (121): 20-32 [PMID: 991504]
- Amanatullah DF, Landa J, Strauss EJ, Garino JP, Kim SH, Di Cesare PE, Comparison of surgical outcomes and implant 16 wear between ceramic-ceramic and ceramic-polyethylene articulations in total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2011; 26: 72-77 [PMID: 21680138 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2011.04.032]
- 17 Callary SA, Solomon LB, Holubowycz OT, Campbell DG, Munn Z, Howie DW. Wear of highly crosslinked polyethylene acetabular components. Acta Orthop 2015; 86: 159-168 [PMID: 25301435 DOI: 10.3109/17453674.2014.972890]
- Kim YH, Park JW, Kulkarni SS, Kim YH. A randomised prospective evaluation of ceramic-on-ceramic and ceramic-on-18 highly cross-linked polyethylene bearings in the same patients with primary cementless total hip arthroplasty. Int Orthop 2013; **37**: 2131-2137 [PMID: 23912267 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-013-2036-9]
- 19 Lewis PM, Al-Belooshi A, Olsen M, Schemitch EH, Waddell JP. Prospective randomized trial comparing alumina ceramic-on-ceramic with ceramic-on-conventional polyethylene bearings in total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2010; 25: 392-397 [PMID: 19195824 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2009.01.013]
- 20 de Steiger R, Lorimer M, Graves SE. Cross-Linked Polyethylene for Total Hip Arthroplasty Markedly Reduces Revision Surgery at 16 Years. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2018; 100: 1281-1288 [PMID: 30063590 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.17.01221]
- Hanna SA, Somerville L, McCalden RW, Naudie DD, MacDonald SJ. Highly cross-linked polyethylene decreases the rate 21 of revision of total hip arthroplasty compared with conventional polyethylene at 13 years' follow-up. Bone Joint J 2016; **98-B**: 28-32 [PMID: 26733512 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.98B1.36527]
- 22 Kim YH, Park JW, Kim JS. Long-Term Results of Third-Generation Ceramic-on-Ceramic Bearing Cementless Total Hip Arthroplasty in Young Patients. J Arthroplasty 2016; 31: 2520-2524 [PMID: 27172862 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2016.03.058]
- 23 Pitto R. Ceramic-on-ceramic total hip arthroplasty: long-term results in a national registry. Orthop Proceed 2018; 100-B: 5-5
- Maradit Kremers H, Larson DR, Crowson CS, Kremers WK, Washington RE, Steiner CA, Jiranek WA, Berry DJ. 24 Prevalence of Total Hip and Knee Replacement in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2015; 97: 1386-1397 [PMID: 26333733 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.N.011411
- Roser M, Ritchie H, Ortiz-Ospina E. World Population Growth. Published online at OurWorldInDataorg 2013. Available 25 from: https://ourworldindata.org/world-population-growth
- 26 Bhaskar D, Rajpura A, Board T. Current Concepts in Acetabular Positioning in Total Hip Arthroplasty. Indian J Orthop 2017; **51**: 386-396 [PMID: 28790467 DOI: 10.4103/ortho.IJOrtho_144_17]
- 27 Little NJ, Busch CA, Gallagher JA, Rorabeck CH, Bourne RB. Acetabular polyethylene wear and acetabular inclination and femoral offset. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2009; 467: 2895-2900 [PMID: 19412648 DOI: 10.1007/s11999-009-0845-3]
- Patil S, Bergula A, Chen PC, Colwell CW Jr, D'Lima DD. Polyethylene wear and acetabular component orientation. J Bone 28 Joint Surg Am 2003; 85-A Suppl 4: 56-63 [PMID: 14652394 DOI: 10.2106/00004623-200300004-00007]
- 29 Sariali E, Klouche S, Mamoudy P. Ceramic-on-ceramic total hip arthroplasty: is squeaking related to an inaccurate threedimensional hip anatomy reconstruction? Orthop Traumatol Surg Res 2014; 100: 437-440 [PMID: 24736014 DOI: 10.1016/i.otsr.2014.01.009
- 30 Walter WL, O'toole GC, Walter WK, Ellis A, Zicat BA. Squeaking in ceramic-on-ceramic hips: the importance of acetabular component orientation. J Arthroplasty 2007; 22: 496-503 [PMID: 17562404 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2006.06.018]
- Traina F, De Fine M, Di Martino A, Faldini C. Fracture of ceramic bearing surfaces following total hip replacement: a 31 systematic review. Biomed Res Int 2013; 2013: 157247 [PMID: 23844356 DOI: 10.1155/2013/157247]
- 32 Yoon BH, Park JW, Cha YH, Won SH, Lee YK, Ha YC, Koo KH. Incidence of Ceramic Fracture in Contemporary Ceramic-on-Ceramic Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Meta-analysis of Proportions. J Arthroplasty 2020; 35: 1437-1443. e3 [PMID: 31902618 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2019.12.013]
- 33 Kim SC, Lim YW, Jo WL, Park HW, Han SB, Kwon SY, Kim YS. Fourth-generation ceramic-on-ceramic THA results in improvements in midterm outcomes compared to third-generation THA but does not resolve noise problems: a cohort study of a single-hip system. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2019; 20: 263 [PMID: 31142296 DOI: 10.1186/s12891-019-2641-x]
- 34 Dargel J, Oppermann J, Brüggemann GP, Eysel P. Dislocation following total hip replacement. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2014; 111: 884-890 [PMID: 25597367 DOI: 10.3238/arztebl.2014.0884]
- Lu Y, Xiao H, Xue F. Causes of and treatment options for dislocation following total hip arthroplasty. Exp Ther Med 2019; 35 18: 1715-1722 [PMID: 31410129 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2019.7733]
- Beaupre LA, Al-Houkail A, Johnston DWC. A Randomized Trial Comparing Ceramic-on-Ceramic Bearing vs Ceramic-36



on-Crossfire-Polyethylene Bearing Surfaces in Total Hip Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2016; 31: 1240-1245 [PMID: 26730451 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2015.11.043]

37 Stilling M, Kold S, de Raedt S, Andersen NT, Rahbek O, Søballe K. Superior accuracy of model-based radiostereometric analysis for measurement of polyethylene wear: A phantom study. Bone Joint Res 2012; 1: 180-191 [PMID: 23610688 DOI: 10.1302/2046-3758.18.2000041]



WJD

World Journal of Orthopedics

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Orthop 2021 January 18; 12(1): 24-34

DOI: 10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.24

Observational Study

ISSN 2218-5836 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Hello, can you hear me? Orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations in the COVID-19 era- a patient and clinician perspective

Anuhya Vusirikala, David Ensor, Ajay K Asokan, Alvin JX Lee, Ravi Ray, Dimitrios Tsekes, John Edwin

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Camacho S

Received: October 18, 2020 Peer-review started: October 18, 2020 First decision: November 18, 2020 Revised: December 2, 2020 Accepted: December 16, 2020

Article in press: December 16, 2020 Published online: January 18, 2021



Anuhya Vusirikala, David Ensor, Ajay K Asokan, Ravi Ray, Dimitrios Tsekes, John Edwin, Department of Trauma and Orthopaedics, Basildon University Hospital, Basildon SS16 5NL, Essex, United Kingdom

Alvin JX Lee, Medical Oncology, UCL Cancer Institute, London WC1E 6BT, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Anuhya Vusirikala, MBChB, Surgeon, Department of Trauma and Orthopaedics, Basildon University Hospital, Nethermayne, Basildon SS16 5NL, Essex, United Kingdom. anuhya.vusirikala@nhs.net

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has resulted in seismic changes in healthcare delivery. As a result of this, hospital footfall required to be reduced due to increased risk of transmission of infection. To ensure patients can safely access healthcare, we introduced orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations in our busy district general hospital.

AIM

To investigate patients' and clinicians' perspective of telephone consultations during COVID-19, and whether this method of consultation could be a viable option in the post- pandemic future.

METHODS

This is a single centre, prospective study conducted in a busy National Health Service district general hospital. In May 2020, 100 non- consecutive adult patients were contacted by independent investigators within 48 h of their orthopaedic clinic telephone consultation to complete a telephone satisfaction questionnaire. The questions assessed satisfaction regarding various aspects of the consultation including overall satisfaction and willingness to use this approach long term. Satisfaction and perspective of 25 clinicians conducting these telephone consultations was also assessed via an online survey tool.

RESULTS

93% of patients were overall satisfied with telephone consultations and 79% were willing to continue this method of consultation post- pandemic. Patients found telephone consultations to reduce personal cost and inconvenience associated with attending a hospital appointment. 72% of clinicians reported overall



satisfaction with this service and 80% agreed that telephone consultations should be used in the future. The majority found it less laborious in time and administration in comparison to face to face consultations. Patients and clinicians expressed their desire for video consultations as a method of further improving their experience with remote consultations.

CONCLUSION

Our study has shown that telephone consultations are a safe and rapid method of adaptation to the COVID-19 pandemic, achieving the aim of reducing hospital footfall. This method of consultation has resulted in immense clinician and patient satisfaction. Our findings suggest that this tool has benefits in post pandemic healthcare delivery. It has also highlighted that telephone consultations can act as a steppingstone to the introduction of the more complex platform of video consulting.

Key Words: COVID-19; Telephone consultation; Orthopaedic clinic; Patient satisfaction; Patient perspective; Clinician perspective

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Telephone consultations are a safe and rapid method of adaptation to the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic, achieving the aim of reducing hospital footfall. This method of consultation has resulted in immense patient and clinician satisfaction, suggesting that this tool has benefits in the post pandemic healthcare delivery. Telephone consultations can also act as a steppingstone to the safe introduction of the more complex platform of video consulting.

Citation: Vusirikala A, Ensor D, Asokan AK, Lee AJX, Ray R, Tsekes D, Edwin J. Hello, can you hear me? Orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations in the COVID-19 era- a patient and clinician perspective. World J Orthop 2021; 12(1): 24-34

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-5836/full/v12/i1/24.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.24

INTRODUCTION

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) was declared as a pandemic on 11th March 2020 by the World Health Organization and has had a profound effect on trauma and orthopaedic services in the National Health Service (NHS). Public Health England reported the burden of coronavirus in England as 157074 Lab- confirmed cases with 37266 confirmed deaths as of June 15, 2020[1]. In response to the rapidly spreading infection, the UK public were placed in lockdown on March 23, 2020.

The NHS England and NHS Improvement released clinical guidelines in delivering remote consultations in secondary care during the coronavirus pandemic to reduce the transmission of disease [2]. The British Orthopaedic Association also supported a pragmatic approach in dealing with trauma and orthopaedic patients in these extraordinary circumstances advocating conservative management for a wide range of injuries that may have been considered for operative management weeks' before[3].

Trauma and Orthopaedic clinics are one of the busiest clinical environments with each clinician seeing 15-20 patients on average per clinic session. With the high volume and rapid turnover of patient attendance, running these clinics with appropriate social distancing to reduce spread of infection was deemed challenging. Therefore, our trauma and orthopaedic department set up telephone consultations as a way of rapidly adapting to the new guidance provided to reduce hospital footfall and ensuring to deliver high quality patient care.

In the United Kingdom, telephone consultations are not a new concept and are used for primary care triage and have shown to reduce face to face (F2F) consultations[4,5]. In the last decade, digital health technologies have developed that allow virtual medical consultations such as GP at Hand by Babylon Health that is currently trialled as a virtual GP practise in NHS Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group[6]. There is a long-term plan for digital services within the NHS in the future[7].

Telemedicine is well established within orthopaedics worldwide, especially useful for clinical management in remote locations. An American hospital followed up their trauma patients remotely when discharged from a level 1 trauma centre with high levels of satisfaction[8]. In elective orthopaedics, telemedicine has been used for elective paediatrics in Australia for their rural population [9] and also in American paediatric fracture management[10]. Post-operative carpal tunnel care has been



conducted using telemedicine with good satisfaction and financial savings^[11]. One prospective study found no difference in satisfaction between F2F consultations and telemedicine[12]. In the United Kingdom, the virtual fracture clinic is a common form of telemedicine used in orthopaedics, but the pandemic meant that there needed to be a rapid shift to telephone consultations without a pre-existing United Kingdom model to follow.

There are proven positive models of telemedicine consultations, however particularly in orthopaedics, limitations include the inability to carry out a thorough clinical assessment by physically examining a patient. This can be frustrating for both patients and clinicians. The purpose of this study was to assess patients' and clinicians' perspective of telephone consultations during COVID-19, and whether this could be a viable option in the post pandemic future.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population and data collection

This is a single centre, prospective study at a busy NHS district general hospital in the United Kingdom. Telephone clinics were rapidly implemented at the start of the pandemic. In May 2020, 100 nonconsecutive adult patients were contacted after their orthopaedic clinic telephone consultation by independent investigators (orthopaedic clinic healthcare professionals) and completed a telephone satisfaction questionnaire (Supplementary material 1) within 48 h of the consultation. We contacted new and follow-up patients from fracture and elective clinics across all trauma and orthopaedic subspecialties to avoid selection bias. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are summarised in Table 1.

These clinics were consultant-led clinics, with additional specialty registrar and core surgical trainee support. To assess suitability for telephone consultations, each patient was screened by a clinician, by reviewing their emergency department notes, or previous clinic letters and imaging. Any patients that required a wound check, plaster cast care or physical examination were deemed unsuitable for a telephone consultation and a F2F appointment was made.

We assessed the satisfaction and perspective of clinicians conducting the telephone consultations via an online questionnaire tool (Supplementary material 1). All clinicians who conducted the telephone consultation were included and were consultant or specialty registrar level.

The questionnaires for both clinicians and patients were designed by the authors and used a Likert scale. The questions aimed to assess satisfaction regarding various aspects of the consultation including overall satisfaction and willingness to use this approach long term. We broke down the telephone consultation into 3 sections and analysed satisfaction with each: (1) Satisfaction with the explanation of patient condition/ injury; (2) Satisfaction with the outcome received from the consultation; and (3) Satisfaction with the answers received to patient questions during the consultation.

Statistical analysis

Cronbach's Alpha coefficient of internal consistency was used as a measure of reliability for the results from the Likert scale used for questions 2 to 6 of the patient satisfaction questionnaire. Analysis was performed on SPSS Statistics version 27.

Fisher's exact test was used to assess differences in the level of patient satisfaction for age, gender and diagnosis of upper/lower limb injuries. A statistically significant level of P < 0.05 was set. Statistical analysis was performed on GraphPad Prism version 8.3.

RESULTS

Telephone satisfaction questionnaires were carried out from May 5, 2020 to May 20, 2020, equating to 12 working days. 23 clinics were held during this time with a total of 262 patients reviewed. Of these, 125 patients (47.7%) had a telephone consultation, and 100 patients were surveyed giving us a capture rate of 80%.

This was compared with the same time period 1 year prior (May 5, 2019 to May 20, 2019) which equated to a total of 10 working days. 36 clinics were held during this time with a total of 617 patients reviewed F2F. There were no telephone consultations taking place within the department prior to the pandemic.

There were 49 males and 51 females, capturing a wide age demographic from 18 to 85+, with the largest cohort (29%) 45-54 years of age. There was a total of 100 injuries in 100 patients. 50% of these were upper limb injuries, 44% lower limb injuries, 1% spine and 5% did not have a diagnosis recorded on the questionnaire.

Patient perspective

90 out of the 100 patients were happy to be reviewed via telephone consultation. 93% of patients were overall satisfied with telephone consultations with 91% of patients satisfied with the explanation of their



Table 1 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	
Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Adult patients aged \geq 18 years of age	Patients aged < 18 yr of age
Received orthopaedic clinic telephone consultation	If other members of the family responded on patient's behalf
Satisfaction questionnaire completed within 48 h from telephone consultation	Unable to consent to complete satisfaction questionnaire
	Communication difficulties (verbal or auditory) as stated in patient clinical notes
	Cognitive impairment as stated in patient clinical notes
	If patients did not answer their telephone on two occasions to complete the satisfaction questionnaire

condition and answers received to all their questions during the consultation. 79% of the patients were willing to continue this method of consultation in the future. Table 2 is a detailed summary of the level of patient satisfaction with each question. The results of the Likert scale used (very satisfied, satisfied, neutral, dissatisfied and very dissatisfied) for questions 2 to 6 in the patient satisfaction questionnaire revealed satisfactory reliability as shown by Cronbach's alpha coefficient of internal consistency 0.763.

Patients had the opportunity to provide free text comments at the end of their questionnaires. Table 3 is a summary of quotations which highlight both positive and negative feedback on telephone consultations. Positive comments were broadly categorized into convenience and efficiency, avoidance of hospital attendance during COVID-19 and mannerisms of the doctors. Negative comments included lack of visual feedback, inability to review images and non-adherence to appointment times.

We found no statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) in the level of satisfaction between age groups, gender and diagnosis of upper or lower limb injuries (Table 4). There was also no statistically significant difference between willingness for telephone consultations during the current pandemic and willingness for telephone consultations in the future.

Clinician perspective

The level of satisfaction of all orthopaedic surgeons carrying out telephone consultations within the department (17 consultants and 8 specialty registrars) was assessed. 72% of clinicians reported overall satisfaction with the use of telephone consultations during the pandemic, with 80% agreeing to continue this method in the future. Figures 1 and 2 compare patient and clinician satisfaction with telephone consultations and their willingness to continue this method of consultation in the future.

Clinicians did not find telephone consultations overly laborious. 80% stated that it took the same amount of time or shorter than traditional face to face consultations and 84% felt telephone consultations required the same or less amount of preparation compared to F2F.

In regard to the effectiveness of telephone consultations, 68% reported them as less comprehensive a medium to F2F consultations. However, the process of explaining the diagnosis and management plan, with subsequent patient questioning fared better. 60% found it the same or easy to explain the diagnosis and management over the telephone and 76% were satisfied with opportunities for patient questions.

Clinicians were also given an opportunity to provide free text suggestions at the end of their questionnaires (Table 5). The overarching suggestions included the need for video consultations which would help with the process of virtual examination, show patients their imaging so as to improve the overall understanding of their condition and subsequent management plan. Additionally, a notable point from a spinal consultant which can be extrapolated across specialties. ("It has to be noted that the public are currently accepting phone consultation as the best available option. This view may change if it carries on for too long. In spine clinics many patients may find it difficult to be convinced that their cases are not suitable for surgical intervention without "hands on" clinic assessment").

DISCUSSION

This study investigated patient and clinician satisfaction with orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations. 93% of patients were overall satisfied with telephone consultations. Gilbert *et al*[13], recently published a quality improvement study which focused on the process involved in the implementation of virtual clinics in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. A secondary outcome from their study assessed patient satisfaction with telephone consultations using a single summative question, which resulted in a mean satisfaction score of 90 out of 100, which was similar to our study findings[13]. From our literature review, no previous United Kingdom based study assessed level of patient satisfaction with the various aspects involved in a telephone consultation. We divided the telephone consultation into 3 sections and analysed satisfaction with each: (1) satisfaction with the

Vusirikala A et al. Orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations during COVID-19

Table 2 Summ	Table 2 Summary of patient satisfaction levels (%)								
Scale	Explanation of condition	Outcome of consultation	Answers received to all questions	Overall satisfaction	Willingness for future telephone consultations				
Very satisfied	51	47	46	56	44				
Satisfied	40	45	45	37	35				
Neutral	6	6	4	2	10				
Dissatisfied	3	2	3	4	3				
Very dissat- isfied	0	0	2	1	8				

Table 3 Free text feedback from patients

Positives		Negatives	
Logistical advantages	A better way to avoid coming to hospital during COVID-19	Lack of visual feedback	More explanation of X-ray required as I could not see it
	Good and efficient way to receive results		Video conferencing would be an improvement <i>e.g.,</i> Skype/Zoom
	Great service to be seen at home		Prefer F2F to show doctor the deformity
	Telephone consultations made the process quicker than attending the hospital for an appointment	Consultation timings	Was not expecting telephone consultation, a pre-warning text message may have helped
Overall Satisfaction	Very satisfied - doctor really listened and able to ask questions		No specific time given, better to have one hour slots or "window"
	Very clear and precise	Patient confidence	Would prefer F2F for first appointment
	Doctor was very helpful		Prefer F2F for more support with condition
	Doctor very friendly		Needed to guess whether exercises were being done correctly
	Pleasant doctor		With elderly patients important to advise to have someone accompany them on the telephone call on loudspeaker

Table 4 P values for Fisher's exact test in level of satisfaction between age, gender and diagnosis of upper or lower limb injuries

P value (≤ 0	value (≤ 0.05)								
		Age	Gender	Diagnosis of upper or lower limb injuries					
Question 1	Willingness for telephone consultation in the current pandemic	0.31	0.32	> 0.99					
Question 2	Explanation of condition	> 0.99	0.09	0.25					
Question 3	Outcome of consultation	0.71	0.48	0.25					
Question 4	Answers received to all questions	> 0.99	0.31	0.14					
Question 5	Overall satisfaction	> 0.99	0.11	0.41					
Question 6	Willingness for future telephone consultations	0.81	0.33	0.43					

explanation of patient condition/ injury; (2) satisfaction with the outcome received from the consultation; and (3) satisfaction with the answers received to patient questions during the consultation. Greater than 90% of patients were satisfied with each of the three areas within the consultation.

79% of patients agreed to future follow ups using this form of telemedicine. Patients felt they were able to obtain the required information from the comfort of their own home, avoiding exposure/spread of COVID-19 and reducing personal cost and inconvenience associated with attending a hospital appointment. In 2014, a study comparing web- based follow up to face to face consultations following joint arthroplasty found that patients in the web-based group incurred lower associated costs[14].

Remote consultations theoretically may be more cost-effective for the NHS. In our department, the average cost per appointment for all trauma and orthopaedic clinics (fracture and elective) are £206 for first time appointment and £165 for follow up appointments[15]. 80% of clinicians in our study found



Table 5 Free text suggestions from clinicians
Suggestions
Lack of visual feedback
Visual consultations would be a great improvement and improve quality of consultation
Video software that will also allow sharing of clinicians' screen would be more informative as imaging can be shown
Workload
Dedicated administrator for telephone consultation preparation would be useful
Lack of examination
Difficult to examine patients. Often reliant on family or patient's own interpretation of examination
Could be limited to follow ups only

Difficult to build rapport or trust



Figure 1 Compares patient and clinician overall satisfaction with telephone consultations.

that telephone consultations took the same amount of time or less compared to F2F consultations. Unfortunately, at present, we are unable to comment on the cost-effectiveness of this new telephone consultation service because costing returns are carried out every 3 months. The main cost for an outpatient department is staff payroll. During the pandemic, staff base has not changed because many clinicians were deployed to carry out COVID related duties. Therefore, the base staff cost remained static. Marsh *et al*[16] in 2014, carried out an economic evaluation of web-based (\$98 per patient) compared with in- person follow up (\$162 per patient) and showed that service costs were significantly lower in the web-based group[16]. In the near future, if clinicians are back to their normal duties and telephone consultations continue then the average cost per appointment may reduce because more appointments will be carried out per clinician *via* the telephone and fewer staff may be required to review the same number of patients. This aspect of remote consultations is worthwhile to investigate to ascertain its costing benefits as the NHS is constantly under pressure to provide a cost- effective service but at the same time respond to the rising needs and demands of the population.

72% of clinicians were overall satisfied with telephone consultations. 80% agreed with continuing this method of consultation after the pandemic. Our findings were in contrast with a recent study published in Madrid where only 37.5% of clinicians agreed with continuing telephone consultations in the future because they felt this method of consultation may have limitations for first clinical appointments[17]. Even though our study did not differentiate between first and follow up appointments we had high satisfaction rates to continue this form of telemedicine consultation in the post pandemic era. We recognise that there is a need for further research in identifying the challenges related to first and follow up telephone consultation appointments.

Patients in our study highlighted the importance of clinician punctuality with appointment times. As a new method of consultation, there were wide variations in adherence to appointment times with some clinics being carried out earlier or later than scheduled. In most cases, patients were called by the administrative team in regard to their new date and time of appointment. To ensure future adherence to

Vusirikala A et al. Orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations during COVID-19



Figure 2 Compares patient and clinician willingness to continue this method of consultation in the post pandemic era.

appointment times and better communication with patients in regard to changes to their appointments a patient text messaging service could be implemented^[18].

We are aware that telephone consultations have limitations from both patient and clinician perspectives. They may not be suitable for all conditions but can be a useful tool to stratify risk for each patient. It will help identify those who can be provided advice over the telephone and signposted to resources online. But it will also help identify a clinical situation that necessitates a face to face consultation.

Both patients and clinicians report a lack of visual feedback with telephone consultations. Patients were frustrated that they were unable to visually demonstrate areas of pain or deformity and they could not confirm whether the rehabilitation exercises given to them were being carried out correctly. They also expressed wishes to be able to view their imaging to have a better understanding of their condition. These concerns were also echoed by the clinicians in our study. 68% felt that telephone consultations were not as comprehensive as face to face consultations and this may be due to the inability to examine the patient, review images with patients to explain their conditions and subsequent management in more detail.

Telephone consultations require a very different skill set in comparison to F2F consultations. Clinicians carrying out telephone consultations may adequately assess patients but inadequately reassure them due to the lack of visual cues. This may mean that clinicians may need to quickly adapt specific skills for effective telephone consultations.

In our study, due to the rapid implementation of telephone consultations, clinicians did not receive any formal training, yet, 91% of patients were satisfied with the explanation of their condition and 91% found that all their questions were appropriately answered during the consultation. A number of articles have been published providing guidance on effective telephone consultations, which have also stressed the importance of accurate documentation and stated that clinic letters that are normally sent to GPs should also be sent to patients to reinforce what was discussed and avoid misunderstandings[19, 20]. It would be beneficial to review these articles by those carrying out this form of consultation.

Both patients and clinicians in our study suggested the need for video consultations to further improve their experience with remote consultations. A systematic review by Gilbert *et al*[21] in 2018, showed that patients preferred video consultations to telephone because they had visual feedback from their clinician. This increased their confidence with the information received during the consultation thus increasing their adherence to the medical advice given. They also found video consultations useful for those who have difficulty with verbal descriptions, and it was a good medium to receive rehabilitation as their exercises can be shown to them[21].

Video consultations can help overcome many challenges associated with telephone consultations. But it is important to recognise that implementation of a video consulting platform is a complex process which is resource heavy and requires the involvement of both national and local strategic leads[22]. The execution of a video consultation service requires a team of experts to install new software, adequately train clinicians and administration staff, set up videoconferencing programmes and equipment in patient's homes and be available for any technical issues that may occur. This process is difficult, requiring a lot of planning and if implemented at speed, service failure may occur.

During our study period in the midst of the pandemic, the number of trauma and orthopaedic clinics held was 1.5 times less (23 clinics vs 36 clinics) and the volume of patients reviewed in these clinics was approximately twice as less compared to the same time period in 2019 (262 patients vs 617 patients). The reduction in the volume of patients in our clinics is likely a reflection of a change in people's behaviour



in response to COVID-19 and the nationwide lockdown. It would be important to assess whether satisfaction levels of telephone consultations amongst our patients remain high when we revert back to running clinics at the pre- pandemic capacity as there would be increased time pressure amongst the clinicians.

Due to the unforeseen circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic, we had to introduce a safe alternative to F2F consultations quickly. Telephone consultations were easy to implement rapidly in a department with no pre-existing remote consultation model. They were found to be an acceptable method of communication irrespective of age, gender and diagnosis. A similar finding was found in a study carried out at 5 GP practises in South Yorkshire in the United Kingdom^[23].

Telephone consultations act as a steppingstone to the introduction of the more complex platform of video consulting. Our department is currently in the process of introducing a video consultation service in a planned and safe manner to ensure a more effective and interactive healthcare service delivery to our patients in the post pandemic future.

Strengths and limitations

This study has several strengths. Firstly, it has shown that telephone consultations have been well received by both clinicians and patients across all ages. Patients had high satisfaction with the opportunity to discuss their condition and have had all their questions answered to an acceptable standard. Telephone consultations have shown to be a safe and quick adaptation to the pandemic, achieving the aim of reducing hospital footfall. This study has also identified the need to further improve remote consultations by introducing video consultation services.

The rapid implementation of this method of remote consultation service within our department has resulted in this study having limitations. We were unable to put our patient and clinician questionnaires through the validation process, but we used a validated Likert scale^[24] to assess satisfaction to reduce measurement error and we demonstrated satisfactory reliability of the results obtained as shown by Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Due to the time critical nature of this study, we were unable to compare satisfaction levels of telephone consultations with F2F consultations and we did not differentiate between first time and follow up clinic appointments, even though overall satisfaction amongst our patients was high. Our clinicians did not receive any specific training prior to carrying out telephone consultations but patients were satisfied with the information provided and subsequent management as a result of these consultations.

CONCLUSION

We are aware that telemedicine is not a novel approach in trauma and orthopaedics, but our study is a snapshot of patient and clinician satisfaction with the rapid implementation of telephone consultations in the midst of a pandemic. We understand that more detailed work needs to be completed to analyse the effectiveness and acceptability of telephone consultations as a form of safe healthcare delivery in the long term. But for now, it has proved an effective alternative in providing high quality healthcare during these unprecedented times.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic resulted in seismic changes in healthcare delivery. Due to the high transmission risk of this infection, hospital footfall required to be reduced rapidly. Trauma and Orthopaedic clinics are one of the busiest clinical environments with high volume and rapid turnover of patient attendance. Running these clinics with appropriate social distancing to reduce the spread of infection was deemed challenging. To ensure patients can continue to safely access healthcare, we introduced orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations within our department in a busy district general hospital in England.

Research motivation

Telephone consultations were rapidly implemented within a department with no pre-existing remote consultation model in order to adapt to the COVID-19 pandemic. But in order to ensure patients received high quality care it was vital to obtain patient and clinician satisfaction with this method of remote consultation.

Research objectives

This study aimed to investigate patient and clinician perspective of telephone consultations during the COVID-19 pandemic, and whether this method of remote consultation could be a viable option in the



post- pandemic future.

Research methods

This is a single centre, prospective study conducted in a busy National Health Service district general hospital. 100 non- consecutive adult patients were contacted within 48 h of their telephone consultation to complete a patient satisfaction questionnaire which assessed satisfaction with various aspects of the consultation including willingness to continue this method of consultation in the long term. Clinician perspective and satisfaction with conducting these telephone consultations was also sought.

Research results

93% of patients were overall satisfied with telephone consultations and 79% were willing to continue this method of consultation post- pandemic. Patients found telephone consultations to reduce personal cost and inconvenience associated with attending a hospital appointment. 72% of clinicians reported overall satisfaction with this service and 80% agreed that telephone consultations should be used in the future. The majority found it less laborious in time and administration in comparison to face to face consultations. There was no statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) in the level of satisfaction between age groups, gender and diagnosis of upper or lower limb injuries. There was also no statistically significant difference between willingness for telephone consultations during the current pandemic and willingness for telephone consultations in the future.

Research conclusions

This study has proved that telephone consultations are an effective alternative that can be implemented rapidly to provide high quality healthcare during these unprecedented times. This method of consultation has resulted in immense clinician and patient satisfaction. Our findings suggest that this tool has benefits in the post-pandemic healthcare delivery.

Research perspectives

Although the number of patients and clinicians included was relatively small, this study provided a snapshot of patient and clinician satisfaction with the rapid implementation of telephone consultations, achieving the aim of reducing hospital footfall in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. It also highlighted the need to further improve patient experience of remote consultations with the safe and planned introduction of the more complex platform of video consultation services.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Trauma and Orthopaedic clinical staff who helped with data collection.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Vusirikala A and Ensor D performed a literature search, created the data collection proformas, collected the data, wrote the manuscript; Asokan AK collected the data, interpreted the data and wrote the results section; Lee AJX performed statistical analysis on the data; Ray R and Tsekes D edited the manuscript; Edwin J designed the study, provided guidance on data collection proformas, edited the manuscript; all authors provided final approval for the paper to be published.

Institutional review board statement: This study was reviewed by the Research and Ethics Committee at the Basildon and Thurrock University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust who felt this study did not require ethical approval.

Informed consent statement: All subjects involved in the study gave their informed consent verbally.

Conflict-of-interest statement: None of the authors had any conflicts of interest to declare.

Data sharing statement: Technical appendix, statistical code, and dataset available from the corresponding author at anuhya.vusirikala@nhs.net. Participants consent was not obtained but the presented data are anonymized and risk of identification is low.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE statement- checklist of items, and the manuscript were prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement- checklist of items.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license



their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

ORCID number: Anuhya Vusirikala 0000-0002-7406-8222; David Ensor 0000-0003-0085-712X; Ajay K Asokan 0000-0003-1351-5401; Alvin JX Lee 0000-0002-7427-9142; Ravi Ray 0000-0003-2769-4893; Dimitrios Tsekes 0000-0002-1962-5030; John Edwin 0000-0002-8744-6296.

S-Editor: Zhang L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xing YX

REFERENCES

- UK Government. Coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK. Available from: https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/#category=nations&map=case
- NHS England and NHS Improvement. Clinical guide for the management of remote consultations and remote working in secondary care during the coronavirus pandemic. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/wpcontent/uploads/sites/52/2020/03/C0044-Specialty-Guide-Virtual-Working-and-Coronavirus-27-March-20.pdf
- 3 British Orthopaedic Association. BOAST- Management of patients with urgent orthopaedic conditions and trauma during the coronavirus pandemic. Available from: https://www.boa.ac.uk/resources/covid-19-boasts-combined.html
- Newbould J, Abel G, Ball S, Corbett J, Elliott M, Exley J, Martin A, Saunders C, Wilson E, Winpenny E, Yang M, Roland M. Evaluation of telephone first approach to demand management in English general practice: observational study. BMJ 2017; **358**: j4197 [PMID: 28954741 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.j4197]
- 5 Miller D, Loftus AM, O'Boyle PJ, McCloskey M, O'Kelly J, Mace D, McKeon N, Ewan SL, Moore L, Abbott A, Cunning S, McCarron MO, Paget AM. Impact of a telephone-first consultation system in general practice. Postgrad Med J 2019; 95: 590-595 [PMID: 31326942 DOI: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2019-136557]
- NHS England and NHS Improvement London. GP at Hand- Fact Sheet. Available from: 6 https://www.england.nhs.uk/London/our-work/gp-at-hand-fact-sheet/
- 7 NHS Long Term Plan. Chapter 5: Digitally- enabled care will go mainstream across the NHS. Available from: https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-5-digitally-enabled-care-will-go-mainstream-across-the-nhs/
- Boulanger B, Kearney P, Ochoa J, Tsuei B, Sands F. Telemedicine: a solution to the followup of rural trauma patients? J 8 Am Coll Surg 2001; 192: 447-452 [PMID: 11294400 DOI: 10.1016/s1072-7515(01)00796-7]
- Rowell PD, Pincus P, White M, Smith AC. Telehealth in paediatric orthopaedic surgery in Queensland: a 10-year review. ANZ J Surg 2014; 84: 955-959 [PMID: 25040240 DOI: 10.1111/ans.12753]
- Sinha N, Cornell M, Wheatley B, Munley N, Seeley M. Looking Through a Different Lens: Patient Satisfaction With Telemedicine in Delivering Pediatric Fracture Care. J Am Acad Orthop Surg Glob Res Rev 2019; 3: e100 [PMID: 317730801
- Williams M, Amin A, Getgood A, Hallam P, Chojnowski AJ, Chapman PG. Telephone clinic follow-up following carpal 11 tunnel decompression. J Hand Surg Eur Vol 2008; 33: 641-644 [PMID: 18579622 DOI: 10.1177/1753193408090124]
- Sathiyakumar V, Apfeld JC, Obremskey WT, Thakore RV, Sethi MK. Prospective randomized controlled trial using telemedicine for follow-ups in an orthopedic trauma population: a pilot study. J Orthop Trauma 2015; 29: e139-e145 [PMID: 24983434 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.00000000000189]
- 13 Gilbert AW, Billany JCT, Adam R, Martin L, Tobin R, Bagdai S, Galvin N, Farr I, Allain A, Davies L, Bateson J. Rapid implementation of virtual clinics due to COVID-19: report and early evaluation of a quality improvement initiative. BMJ Open Qual 2020; 9 [PMID: 32439740 DOI: 10.1136/bmjoq-2020-000985]
- 14 Marsh JD, Bryant DM, MacDonald SJ, Naudie DD, McCalden RW, Howard JL, Bourne RB, McAuley JP. Feasibility, effectiveness and costs associated with a web-based follow-up assessment following total joint arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2014; 29: 1723-1728 [PMID: 24881023 DOI: 10.1016/j.arth.2014.04.003]
- 15 National Collection Cost Index (NCCI). National Cost Collection for the NHS. Available from: https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/national-cost-collection/#ncc1819
- Marsh J, Hoch JS, Bryant D, MacDonald SJ, Naudie D, McCalden R, Howard J, Bourne R, McAuley J. Economic 16 evaluation of web-based compared with in-person follow-up after total joint arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2014; 96: 1910-1916 [PMID: 25410510 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.M.01558]
- Luengo-Alonso G, Pérez-Tabernero FG, Tovar-Bazaga M, Arguello-Cuenca JM, Calvo E. Critical adjustments in a 17 department of orthopaedics through the COVID-19 pandemic. Int Orthop 2020; 44: 1557-1564 [PMID: 32474718 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-020-04647-1]
- 18 Rohman L, Maruswezki D, Boyce Cam N. The impact of a text messaging service on orthopaedic clinic Did Not Attend rates. J Telemed Telecare 2015; 21: 408-413 [PMID: 26026176 DOI: 10.1177/1357633X15583778]
- 19 van Galen LS, Car J. Telephone consultations. BMJ 2018; 360: k1047 [PMID: 29599197 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.k1047]
- 20 Iyengar K, El-Nahas W. A brief guide to telephone medical consultation. Br J Health Care Manag 2020; 26: 1-3 [DOI: 10.12968/bjhc.2020.0032
- Gilbert AW, Jaggi A, May CR. What is the patient acceptability of real time 1:1 videoconferencing in an orthopaedics 21 setting? Physiotherapy 2018; 104: 178-186 [PMID: 29361298 DOI: 10.1016/j.physio.2017.11.217]
- 22 Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Shaw S, Morrison C. Video consultations for covid-19. BMJ 2020; 368: m998 [PMID:



Vusirikala A et al. Orthopaedic clinic telephone consultations during COVID-19

32165352 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.m998]

- 23 Jiwa M, Freeman J, Coleman M, Joesbury H. Do older patients feel able to cope with illness following telephone consultations? Curr Med Res Opin 2005; 21: 339-344 [PMID: 15811201 DOI: 10.1185/030079905X26225]
- 24 Likert R. A technique for the measurement of attitudes. New York: The Science Press; 1932



World Journal Orthopedics

World Journal of

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Orthop 2021 January 18; 12(1): 35-50

DOI: 10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.35

ISSN 2218-5836 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Thirty-day mortality of patients with hip fracture during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic periods: A systematic review and metaanalysis

Sujit Kumar Tripathy, Paulson Varghese, Sibasish Panigrahi, Bijnya Birajita Panda, Sandeep Velagada, Samrat Smrutiranjan Sahoo, Monappa A Naik, Sharath K Rao

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Abruzzese E, Manenti А

Received: November 24, 2020 Peer-review started: November 24, 2020

First decision: December 3, 2020 Revised: December 5, 2020 Accepted: December 23, 2020 Article in press: December 23, 2020 Published online: January 18, 2021



Sujit Kumar Tripathy, Department of Orthopedics, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhubaneswar 751019, India

Paulson Varghese, Sibasish Panigrahi, Sandeep Velagada, Department of Orthopedics, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhubaneswar, Bhubaneswar 751019, India

Bijnya Birajita Panda, Department of Ophthalmology, SCB Medical College, Cuttack 753007, India

Samrat Smrutiranjan Sahoo, Department of Orthopedics, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Nagpur 441108, India

Monappa A Naik, Department of Orthopedics, Kasturba Medical College, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, Udupi, Karnataka 576104, India

Sharath K Rao, Department of Orthopedics, Kasturba Medical College, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, Udupi, Karnataka, Manipal 576104, India

Corresponding author: Sujit Kumar Tripathy, DNB, MBBS, MS, Additional Professor, Department of Orthopedics, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Bhubaneswar, Sijua, Patrapada, Bhubaneswar 751019, India. sujitortho@yahoo.co.in

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Timely intervention in hip fracture is essential to decrease the risks of perioperative morbidity and mortality. However, limitations of the resources, risk of disease transmission and redirection of medical attention to a more severe infective health problem during coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic period have affected the quality of care even in a surgical emergency.

AIM

To compare the 30-d mortality rate and complications of hip fracture patients treated during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic times.

METHODS

The search of electronic databases on 1st August 2020 revealed 45 studies related to



mortality of hip fracture during the COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic times. After careful screening, eight studies were eligible for quantitative and qualitative analysis of data.

RESULTS

The pooled data of eight studies (n = 1586) revealed no significant difference in 30-d mortality rate between the hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods [9.63% vs 6.33%; odds ratio (OR), 0.62; 95% CI, 0.33, 1.17; P = 0.14]. Even the 30-d mortality rate was not different between COVID-19 non-infected patients who were treated during the pandemic time, and all hip fracture patients treated during the pre-pandemic period (OR, 1.03; 95% CI, 0.61, 1.75; P = 0.91). A significant difference in mortality rate was observed between COVID-19 positive and COVID-19 negative patients (OR, 6.99; 95% CI, 3.45, 14.16; P < 0.00001). There was no difference in the duration of hospital stay (OR, -1.52, 95%CI, -3.85, 0.81; P = 0.20), overall complications (OR, 1.62; P = 0.15) and incidence of pulmonary complications (OR, 1.46; P = 0.38) in these two-time frames. Nevertheless, the preoperative morbidity was more severe, and there was less use of general anesthesia during the pandemic time.

CONCLUSION

There was no difference in 30-d mortality rate between hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. However, the mortality risk was higher in COVID-19 positive patients compared to COVID-19 negative patients. There was no difference in time to surgery, complications and hospitalization time between these two time periods.

Key Words: Hip fracture; Femur neck fracture; Trochanter fracture; Mortality; Pandemic; COVID-19

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Timely intervention in hip fracture is essential to decrease the risks of perioperative morbidity and mortality. However, limitations of the resources, risk of disease transmission and redirection of medical attention to a more severe infective health problem during coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic period have affected the quality of care even in a surgical emergency. This meta-analysis and systematic review compared the 30-d mortality rate and complications of hip fracture patients treated during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic times. The findings of the meta-analysis revealed whether the delay in surgery for hip fracture patients affected the outcome or not.

Citation: Tripathy SK, Varghese P, Panigrahi S, Panda BB, Velagada S, Sahoo SS, Naik MA, Rao SK. Thirty-day mortality of patients with hip fracture during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic periods: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Orthop 2021; 12(1): 35-50

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-5836/full/v12/i1/35.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.35

INTRODUCTION

The health care delivery systems of most of the nations have been affected by the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)[1]. In order to prevent the spread of the disease and to provide essential care to infected patients, many elective surgical procedures were postponed. Even emergency surgical procedures also got delayed because of the lack of human resources and operation theatre. Optimization of the patients before surgery also took a long time. Hip fracture is a surgical emergency. Despite mandatory lockdown during COVID-19 pandemic, hip fracture incidence has remained unaltered[2-5].

The most worrisome problem is that majority of these patients are elderly individuals with numerous comorbidities[6-10]. Management of such fractures in these vulnerable immunocompromised patients during COVID-19 pandemic time is a big challenge[11-29]. With the best possible care, the incidence of 30-d mortality in hip fracture has been reported between 9%-13% in the literature[14,15]. Those who survive usually have a poor functional outcome and quality of life[14,15]. During the pandemic time, when the entire medical services have focused on COVID-19 treatment, delaying of hip fracture surgery might cause increased complication and perioperative mortality. Although it was believed that COVID-19 infected patients with hip fracture might have more incidences of pulmonary complications, pneumonia and perioperative mortality, few studies reported similar mortality rates in both COVID-19 infected and non-infected patients[18,24]. The observational study by the Spanish HIP-COVID group



reported a 10% incidence of in-hospital death among fracture patients who were negative for COVID-19 [16]. Similar observations were reported by Kayani *et al*[18], who had a similar incidence of mortality in hip fracture among the COVID-19 infected and non-infected patients. Several cohort studies reported no significant difference in delay in surgery, treatment methods, complications, and 30-d mortality in the hip fracture between the pandemic and the pre-pandemic period[24,27]. Because of the small cohort of hip fracture patients during the pandemic time, such conclusion should be interpreted judiciously as it seems there is no ill-effect of COVID-19 infection per se on the patient and probably there is no severe consequence of slight treatment delay. Therefore, this systematic review and meta-analysis were designed to look for: (1) The 30-d mortality in hip fracture during the pandemic time vs the prepandemic time; and (2) the 30-d mortality rate between COVID-19 negative hip fracture patients and pre-pandemic era hip fracture patients. Similarly, delay in surgery, the length of hospital stay, and overall complication in the hip fracture patients in these two-time frames will be compared. We hypothesized that the 30-d mortality rate in hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic time is more than the pre-pandemic time.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The recommendations of Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses was followed for reporting this systematic review/meta-analysis[30] (Figure 1). It was registered in PROSPERO (Regd. No.: CRD42020203581) before the data extraction and analysis.

Literature search strategy

A literature search was performed on 1st of August 2020 by two authors (Tripathy SK and Varghese P) to identify studies that have evaluated hip fractures during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic period. PubMed/Medline, Embase and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) databases were searched using the keywords "COVID", "COVID-19", "pandemic", "hip fracture", "trochanter fracture" and "femur neck fracture". The Boolean operators "and" or "or" was used with different combinations of the keywords. The search was not time-bound but limited to the English literature and human being. The exact search strategy of Medline database has been provided in Table 1. The title and abstract of the retrieved articles were assessed carefully for possible inclusion in this review. The references of the relevant articles and reviews were also searched to get more studies related to the topic. The opinion of a third author (Panda BB) was sought when there was any disagreement/ discrepancy between the two authors (Figure 1).

Study selection

Any randomized controlled trial or observational prospective/retrospective study that mentioned the 30-d mortality rate of hip fracture patients (age > 18 years) in both pandemic and pre-pandemic periods were selected for this systematic review/meta-analysis. Studies that reported on open fracture or pathological fracture were not considered. If any study reported the 30-d mortality of hip fracture only for the pandemic period, it was excluded.

The hip fracture in this review included both intracapsular (neck femur fracture) and extracapsular fracture (intertrochanteric and subtrochanteric fracture). Patients who had clinical symptoms/signs of COVID-19 with reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction positive nose or throat swab for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) were considered as COVID-19 infected (COVID-19 +). Asymptomatic patient with negative throat and nose swabs were considered as COVID-19 non-infected (COVID-19 -). In cases where there was strong clinical suspicion, it was labelled as COVID suspect even though the swab tests were negative. For data analysis, all suspect patients were included in the COVID-19 + group. Similarly, patients who were not tested, and there was no clinical suspicion, were categorized as COVID-19 -.

Data extraction

The data from the included studies were extracted by two authors (Tripathy SK and Varghese P). The details (author, year of publication, study design, demographic properties, surgical details, follow-up, 30-d mortality, and complications) were filled up in a Microsoft Excel sheet for subsequent analysis. The opinion of a third author (Panda BB) was sought in case of disagreement.

The primary objective of this study was to look for the 30-d mortality of hip fracture in COVID-19 pandemic period and pre-pandemic period. The secondary objective was to compare 30-d mortality of hip fracture among COVID-19 negative patients and pre-pandemic hip fracture patients. The duration of hospital stay, complications and preoperative morbidity among the hip fracture patients during these two-time frames were compared.

Methodological quality and risk of bias assessment

The methodological quality and risk of bias of the observational studies were evaluated by two authors (Tripathy SK and Varghese P) using the Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS)[31]. The NOS evaluates a study



Table 1 Sear	Table 1 Search strategy of Medline database							
Keyword	Search strategy	No. of hits						
COVID, COVID-19, Pandemic, Hip fracture, Trochanter fracture, Femur neck fracture	(("COVID"[All Fields] AND ("humans"[MeSH Terms] AND "medline"[Filter] AND "english"[Language]) AND ("humans"[MeSH Terms] AND "medline"[Filter] AND 1000/01/01:2020/08/01[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language])) OR (("severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2"[All Fields] OR "ncov"[All Fields] OR "2019 ncov"[All Fields] OR "covid 19"[All Fields] OR "as ars cov 2"[All Fields] OR (("coronavirus"[All Fields] OR "cov"[All Fields] OR "2019 ncov"[All Fields] OR "covid 19"[All Fields] OR "as ars cov 2"[All Fields] OR ("coronavirus"[All Fields] OR "cov"[All Fields] OR "2019 ncov"[All Fields] OR "covid 19"[All Fields] OR "as ars cov 2"[All Fields] OR "cov"[All Fields] OR "2019 ncov"[All Fields] OR "cov"[All Fields] OR "as ars cov 2"[All Fields] OR "machine"[Filter] AND "medline"[Filter] AND "medline"[Filter] AND "medline"[Filter] AND "medline"[Filter] AND "medline"[Filter] AND 1000/01/01:2020/08/01[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language])) OR (("pandemics"[All Fields] OR "pandemics"[All Fields] OR "pandemics"[MeSH Terms] AND "medline"[Filter] AND 1000/01/01:2020/08/01[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language])) AND (("humans"[MeSH Terms] AND "medline"[Filter] AND 1000/01/01:2020/08/01[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language])) AND ((("hip fractures"[All Fields]) OR "hip fractures"[All Fields] OR "handemics"[MeSH Terms] AND "medline"[Filter] AND 1000/01/01:2020/08/01[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language])) AND ((("hip fractures"[All Fields]) OR "hip fractures"[All Fields] AND "fractures"[All Fields] OR "tractures"[MeSH Terms] OR ("hip"[All Fields] AND "fractures"[All Fields]) OR "handemic"[All Fields] OR "tractures"[All Fields] OR "fractures"[All Fields	24						

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019.

in three domains (8 items with maximum score 9): Study group selection, comparability of the groups, and determining the outcome of interest for case-control and cohort studies[31]. A score of more than six was considered as a high-quality study. In case of disagreement between the authors, the opinion of a third author (Naik MA) was sought.

Statistical analysis

The Review Manager (RevMan) V.5.3 was used for data analysis[32]. Few studies provided the median value and interquartile range (IQR). The mean and SD value was calculated from the median and IQR as per the recommendation of Luo *et al*[33] and Wan *et al*[34]. The study, providing the previous two years of data (pre-pandemic) were evaluated jointly, and the mean (SD) was calculated using the RevMan calculator. Whenever feasible, data were pooled for analysis. For the comparison of binary data, the odds ratio (OR) and a 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated. Similarly, the mean difference (MD) and 95%CI were estimated for continuous data. The *P* value of < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. The heterogeneity among the cohort studies was evaluated by Cochrane's Q ($\chi^2 P$ < 0.10) and quantified by *I*²-Higgins test. The *I*² value of 25%, 50% and 75% were considered as low, moderate, and high grade of heterogeneity (*I*² > 50%)[37].

RESULTS

Selection of the study, quality assessment, and patient demographics

A total of 45 studies were retrieved after the search of electronic databases using the keywords; of which, eight studies were eligible for review after screening[9,19,20,27-29,38,39] (Figure 1). There were three prospective studies and five retrospective comparative studies. The inclusion and exclusion criteria were well defined in all studies. Assessment of quality of the studies using NOS revealed a low risk of bias in one study and moderate risk of bias in the remaining seven studies (Table 2). The data of 901 hip fracture patients who were treated during the pre-pandemic period (similar time in 2018 and 2019) was evaluated, and it was compared to 685 hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic period. There were 77 COVID-19 + patients and 608 COVID-19 – patients (Table 2). The mean/median age of the patients in all studies was above 75 years during both pre-pandemic and pandemic periods. The female patients had more incidences of hip fracture during both the time periods. The study by Macey *et al*[9] had age- and sex-matched hip fracture patient cohort from the pre-pandemic time. The body mass index and domicile status during both time periods have been provided in Table 2.

Zaishidena® WJO https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Demographic properties, fracture type and surgical techniques in hip fractured patients treated during coronavirus disease 2019 and pre-coronavirus disease 2019 times (2020)

Study/cour	itry	Macey <i>et al</i> <mark>[</mark> 9]/United Kingdom	Malik-Tabassum <i>et al</i> [38] /United Kingdom	Segarra <i>et al</i> [<mark>27</mark>]/Spain	Thakrar et a/[<mark>19]</mark> /United Kingdom	Egol <i>et al</i> [<mark>20]</mark> /United States	Williams <i>et al</i> [28]/United Kingdom	Slullitel <i>et al</i> <mark>[39]</mark> /Argentina	Karayiannis e <i>t al</i> [<mark>29</mark>] /United Kingdom
Study desigr	ı	Retrospective study with prospective data collection	Retrospective observational studies	Longitudinal prospective cohort study	Prospective cohort study	Prospective cohort study	Retrospective observational study	Retrospective case-control study	Retrospective case- control study, multicentre
Sample size/ duration	Pre- COVID	76 (20 th March 2019-24 th April 2019)	174 [90 (23 rd March 2018-11 th May 2018); 84 (23 rd March 2019-11 th May 2019)]	70 (1 st February 2019-15 th April 2019)	99 [51 (15 th March 2018- 15 th April 2018); 48 (15 th March 2019-15 th April 2019)]	115 (1 st February 2019-15 th April 2019)	15 (January 2020)	86 (1 st December 2019-19 th March 2020)	266 (18 th March 2019-27 th April 2019)
	COVID	76 (20 th March 2020-24 th April 2020)	68 (23 rd March 2020-11 th May 2020)	68 (1 st February 2020-15 th April 2020)	43 (15 th March 2020-15 th April 2020)	138 (1 st February 2020-15 th April 2020)	15 (March 2020)	74 (20 th March 2020-31 st May 2020)	203 (18 th March 2020-27 th April 2020)
	COVID +	10 (13.16%)	1 (1%)	2 (2.94%)	12 (27.9%)	31 (22.5%)	0	0	21 (10.35%)
	COVID -	66 (86.84%)	67 (99%)	66 (97%)	31 (72.1%)	107 (77.5%)	15 (100%)	74 (100%)	182 (89.65%)
NOS		8 (moderate risk)	8 (moderate risk)	7 (moderate risk)	8 (moderate risk)	9 (low risk)	7 (moderate risk)	8 (moderate risk)	7 (moderate risk)
Age (yr)	Pre- COVID	Median: 83 (IQR, 74-88)	2018: 82.9 ± 9.9; 2019: 83.8 ± 7.7	84 ± 7.8	2018: 81.6 ± 12.3; 2019: 84.0 ± 8.7	81.5 ± 10.7	86.6	Median: 86 (IQR, 78-90)	78.0 ± 12.8
	COVID	Median: 83 (73-87)	84.3 ± 8.9	82.4 ± 7.4	81.6 ± 11.3	83.0 ± 10.2	81.5	Median: 86 (IQR, 80-91)	81.3 ± 9.7
Sex, M:F	Pre- COVID	58:18	37:137	18:52	25:74	34:81	2:13	19:67	79:187
	COVID	58:18	25:43	21:47	23:20	50:88	3:12	9:65	65:138
BMI (kg/m ²)	Pre- COVID	NM	NM	NM	NM	24.6 ± 5.2	NM	Median 24 (IQR, 21.7-26.6)	NM
	COVID	NM	NM	NM	NM	24.4 ± 5.1	NM	Median 24.5 (IQR, 22.3- 27.3)	NM
Domicile status	Pre- COVID	Home: 58 (79.45%); residential care: 10 (13.69%); hospital: 5 (6.84%)	Nursing care: 14 (8.04%); own home/sheltered housing: 135 (77.58%); residential care: 25 (14.36%)	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM
	COVID	Home: 61 (80.2%); residential care: 11 (14.47%); hospital: 4 (5.26%)	Nursing care: 8 (11.8%); own home/sheltered housing: 52 (76.5%); residential care: 8 (11.8%)	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM	NM

Tripathy SK et al. Mortality of hip fracture patients in COVID-19 pandemic

ASA grade	Pre- COVID	1:2 (2.6%); 2:18 (24%); 3:42 (56%); 4:13 (17.3%); 5:0 (0%)	1:4 (2.29%); 2:53 (30.4%); 3:98 (56.3%); 4:19 (10.9%)	1:0; 2:22 (31.4%); 3:48 (68.6%); 4:0	NM	NM	NM	1 and 2: 22 (25.6%); 3 and 4: 64 (74.4%)	1 and 2: 66 (25.3%); 3, 4 and 5: 195 (74.7%)
	COVID	1:2 (2.6%); 2:12 (15.7%); 3:51 (67%); 4:9 (11.8%); 5:2 (2.6%);	1:0 (0.0%); 2:17 (25.0%); 3:47 (69.1%); 4:4 (5.9%);	1:0; 2: 29 (42.7%); 3:37 (54.4%); 4:2 (2.9%)	NM	NM	NM	1 and 2: 12 (16.2%); 3 and 4: 62 (84%)	1 and 2: 35 (17.2%); 3, 4 and 5: 168 (82.8%)
Anesthesia	Pre- COVID	GA: 51 (69.8%); SA: 22 (30.1%)	NM	NM	NM	GA: 78 (70.3%); SA: 33 (29.7%)	NM	NM	GA: 76 (29.1%); SA/nerve block: 185 (70.9%)
	COVID	GA: 36 (50%); SA: 36 (50%)	NM	NM	NM	GA: 82 (61.2%); SA: 52 (38.8%)	NM	NM	GA: 37 (18.2%); SA/ nerve block: 166 (81.8%)
Time to surgery (h)	Pre- COVID	Median: 20 (IQR, 16-25); ¹ mean: 20.35 + 6.80	2018: 26.5 ± 18.7; 2019: 28.2 ± 51.7	36 ± 38.4	NM	33.6 ± 19.2	21.8 (range, 8-48)	Median: 16.5 (IQR, 9-30); ¹ mean 18.61 ± 15.83	< 24 h: 56 (21.4%); 24-48 h: 85 (32.6%); > 48 h: 120 (46.0%)
	COVID	Median: 23 (IQR, 18-30); ¹ mean: 23.7 ± 9.06	21.8 ± 12.1	43.2 ± 31.2	51.2	33.6 ± 36	35.8 (range, 8.5- 79)	Median: 24 (IQR, 24-48); ¹ mean: 32.46 ± 18.14	< 24 h: 78 (38.4%); 24-48 h: 92 (45.3%); > 48 h: 33 (16.3%)
Fracture type	Pre- COVID	FN: 45 (59.2%); IT: 31 (40.7%)	FN: 101 (58.0%); IT: 66 (37.9%); ST: 7 (4.02%)	NM	NM	FN: 43 (37.4%); IT: 69 (60.0%); ST: 3 (2.6%)	NM	IT: 45 (52.33%); FN: 41 (47.67%)	FN: 266
	COVID	FN: 51 (67.1%); IT: 25 (32.8%)	FN: 44 (64.7%); IT: 21 (30.8%); ST: 3(4.41%)	NM	NM	FN: 71 (51.4%); IT: 60 (43.5%); ST: 7 (5.1%)	NM	FN: 33 (44.59%); IT: 41 (55.41%)	FN: 203
Surgical techniques	Pre- COVID	Nonoperative: 3 (3.9%); DHS: 26 (34.2%); IMN: 9 (11.8%); Hemi A: 31 (40.7%); THA: 7 (9.2%); CRPP: 0 (0%)	THA: 12 (6.8%); Hemi A: 77 (44.2%); CCS: 4 (2.29%); DHS: 48 (27.5%); IMN: 31 (17.8%); Nonoperative: 2 (1.14%)	Operative: 67 (95.7%); nonoperative: 3 (4.3%)	NM	IMN: 61 (54.9%); Hemi A: 22 (19.8%); THA: 10 (9.0%); DHS: 10 (9.0%); CRPP: 8 (7.2%); nonoperative: 4 (3.5%)	All operative (15)	CS: 11 (12.8%); Hemi A: 14 (16.3%); THA: 19 (22.1%); Girdlestone: 1 (1.1%); IMN: 41 (47.7%); nonoperative: 0	Hemi A: 115 (44.1%); DHS: 68 (26%); IMN: 43 (16.5%); THA: 35 (13.4%); conservative: 5 (1.9%)
	COVID	Nonoperative: 3 (3.9%); CRPP: 1 (1.31%); DHS: 14 (18.4%); IMN: 13 (17.1%); Hemi A: 42 (55.2%); THA: 3 (3.9%)	Nonoperative: 2 (2.94%); CCS: 3 (4.41%); DHS: 12 (17.64%); IMN: 11 (16.17%); Hemi A: 39 (57.35%); THA: 1 (1.47%)	Operative: 64 (94.1%); nonoperative: 4 (5.9%)	DHS: -7 (16.27%); CS: 3 (6.9%); Hemi A: 15 (34.8%); IMN: 13 (30.2%); THA: 1 (2.3%); Rev THA: 4 (9.3%)	IMN: 64 (46.3%); Hemi A: 42 (31.3%); THA: 6 (4.5%); DHS: 7 (5.2%); CRPP: 15 (11.2%); nonoperative: 4 (2.9%)	Operative:14; 1 patient expired before surgery	CS: 2 (2.75%); Hemi A: 20 (27%); THA: 10 (13.5%); Girdlestone: 0; IMN: 41 (55.4%); nonoperative: 1 (1.35%)	Hemi A:113 (55.7); DHS: 47 (23.1%); IMN: 36 (17.7%); THA: 7 (3.4%); conservative: 0

¹Indicates that the mean has been calculated from the median value and interquartile range/range. NOS: Newcastle-Ottawa scale; M: Male; F: Female; ASA: American Society of Anesthesiologists Classification; COVID: Coronavirus disease 2019; IQR: Interquartile range; NM: Not mentioned; GA: General anesthesia; SA: Spinal anesthesia; FN: Femoral neck fracture; IT: Intertrochanteric fracture; DHS: Dynamic hip screw; IMN: Intramedullary nail; Hemi A: Hemiarthroplasty; THA: Total hip arthroplasty; CRPP: Closed reduction percutaneous pinning; ST: Subtrochanteric fracture; CS: Cannulated screw; CCS: Cannulated compression screw; Rev THA: Revision total hip Arthroplasty.

Preoperative morbidity, time to surgery and type of anesthesia

The preoperative morbidity status of the patients in both pandemic and pre-pandemic periods were compared using the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) classification. Pooled analysis of five studies (n = 1159) revealed significantly increased number of severely morbid (ASA grade > 3) hip fracture patients who were treated during the pandemic period (OR, 1.43; 95%CI, 1.08, 1.89; P = 0.01)[9, 27,29,38,39]. Egol *et al*[20] (2020) did not observe a significant difference in preoperative morbidity using



Figure 1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses flow diagram showing methods of study recruitment. COVID-19 +: Coronavirus disease 2019 infected.

the Charlson Co-morbidity index between 2020 hip fracture cohort and 2019 hip fracture cohort.

After pooling of the data from five studies[9,20,27,38,39], it was observed that there was no difference in time to surgery following the injury (MD, 6.57; 95%CI, -0.25, 13.39; P = 0.06). The high grade of heterogeneity ($I^2 = 88\%$) among the studies was addressed by the random effect model (Figure 2).

Only three studies (n = 874) had provided details about the type anesthesia (regional vs general anesthesia) used during surgery [9,20,29]. There was significantly less use of general anesthesia during the pandemic period (37.17% vs 44.86%; OR, 0.57; 95% CI, 0.42, 0.77; P = 0.0003) (Figure 2).

Mortality, length of hospital stay, complications

Pooled analysis of 30-d mortality from the eight studies (n = 1586) revealed a significantly increased death among hip fracture patients during the pandemic time (9.63% vs 6.33%; OR, 0.62; 95%CI, 0.33, 1.17; *P* = 0.14) (Table 3, Figure 3)[9,19,20,27-29,38,39]. There was no difference in 30-d mortality rate between COVID-19 negative patients who were treated during the pandemic time and all hip fractured patients treated during the pre-pandemic period (6.44% vs 5.74%; OR, 1.03; 95%CI, 0.61, 1.75; P = 0.91)[9, 19,20,29,38]. However, a significant difference in mortality rate was observed between COVID-19 + and COVID-19 - patients with an OR of 6.99 (29.33% vs 5.73%; 95%CI, 3.45, 14.16; P < 0.00001) (Table 3, Figure 3) [9,19,20,29,38]

There was no difference in length of hospital stay among hip fracture patients treated during pandemic and pre-pandemic periods (OR, -1.52; 95%CI, -3.85, 0.81; P = 0.20)[9,20,38,39]. Similarly, major complications (17.98% vs 10.64%; OR, 1.62; P = 0.15) and the incidence of pulmonary complications (9.09% vs 6.78%; OR, 1.46; P = 0.38) among the hip fracture patients during these two-time frames were not different (Table 3, Figure 4)[9,20,38,39].

DISCUSSION

The main finding of the meta-analysis was that there was no difference in 30-d mortality in hip fracture patients between the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. Even, the mortality risk was not different



Tripathy SK et al. Mortality of hip fracture patients in COVID-19 pandemic

Table 3 Mortality and complications in hip-fractured patients treated during coronavirus disease 2019 and pre-coronavirus disease 2019 times (2020)

Study/country		Macey <i>et</i> a/[9] /United Kingdom	Malik- Tabassum <i>et al</i> [38] /United Kingdom	Segarra e <i>t al</i> [<mark>27</mark>] /Spain	Thakrar et a/[19] /United Kingdom	Egol <i>et</i> a/[20] /United States	Williams <i>et al</i> [28] /United Kingdom	Slullitel <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [<mark>39]</mark> /Argentina	Karayiannis e <i>t al</i> [29] /United Kingdom
30-d mortality	Pre- COVID	10 (13%)	12 (6.89%)	9 (12.9%)	6 (6.06%)	3 (2.7%)	1 (6.6%)	0	16 (6%)
	COVID	11 (14%)	6 (8.8%)	8 (11.8%)	7 (16.3%)	17 (12.3%)	2 (13.3%)	8 (10.8%)	7 (3.4%)
	COVID +	2 (20%)	1 (100%)	NM	4 (33%)	9 (52.9%) + 2 (14.3%); Total-11 (35.4%)	NM	NM	4 (57.14%)
	COVID -	9 (13.6%)	5 (7.4%)	NM	3 (9.6%)	6 (5.6%)	NM	NM	3 (42.86%)
In-patient mortality	Pre- COVID	NM	11 (6.32%)	NM	NM	1 (0.9%)	NM	NM	NM
	COVID	NM	4 (5.9%)	NM	NM	8 (5.8%)	NM	NM	NM
Length of hospital stay (d)	Pre- COVID	Median: 12 (range, 7- 26); ¹ mean: 14.25 ± 3.17	2018: 15.8 ± 11.4; 2019: 16.3 ± 11.4	NM	NM	5.8 ± 3.7	11.7	Median: 5 (IQR, 4-7); ¹ mean: 5.35 ± 2.26	NM
	COVID	Median: 11.5 (range, 6-22); ¹ mean: 12.75 ± 2.67	8.6 ± 4.6	NM	NM	5.8 ± 3.8	6.2	Median: 6 (IQR, 5-8); ¹ mean: 6.35 ± 2.26	NM
Major complications	Pre- COVID	11 (14.5%)	17 (9.7%)	NM	NM	10 (8.7%)	NM	10 (11.6%)	NM
	COVID	17 (22.4%)	3 (4.5%)	NM	NM	28 (20.3%)	NM	16 (21.6%)	NM
Pulmonary complications/pneumonia/	Pre- COVID	8 (10.95%)	NM	NM	NM	NM	2 (13.3%)	2 (2.32%)	NM
respiratory infection	COVID	15 (20.54%)	NM	NM	NM	NM	0	0	NM
Deep vein thrombus/pulmonary	Pre- COVID	1 (1.36%)	2 (1.14%)	NM	NM	NM	NM	0	NM
embolism	COVID	0	1 (1.47%)	NM	NM	NM	NM	5 (6.75%)	NM

¹Indicates that the mean has been calculated from the median value and interquartile range/range. COVID: Coronavirus disease 2019; COVID +: Coronavirus disease 2019 infected; COVID -: Coronavirus disease 2019 non-infected; NM: Not mentioned; IQR: Interquartile range.

> among the COVID-19 - patients of pandemic time and all hip fracture patients of pre-pandemic time. However, significantly increased 30-d mortality rate was observed in COVID-19 + patients. There was less use of general anesthesia during the pandemic period and patients with hip fracture treated during this time were severely morbid.

> Early intervention in hip fracture reduces morbidity and mortality. A shorter hospital stay and minimal respiratory complications have been reported if the hip fracture surgery is stabilized within 24 h of admission[40,41]. During the pandemic, there was difficulty in treating these patients within the stipulated time[42,43]. Accordingly, a high incidence of 30-d mortality was expected, but the pooled analysis of the studies did not observe a significant difference in mortality among the hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. However, the difference in the mortality was limited to the COVID-19 + patients as the analysis failed to notice a difference between COVID-19 - patients and pre-pandemic hip fracture patients. The respiratory compromise because of the COVID-19 infection in the perioperative period acts as a second hit phenomenon as the cytokines are already flared up by the traumatic hip fracture[18,20,24]. Prolonged recumbency, poor immunity and multiple comorbidities in the elderly individuals are also detrimental[43,44]. Nevertheless, asymptomatic COVID-19 - patients are not different from the typical elderly cohort. Accordingly,





Figure 2 Forest-plot diagram showing preoperative morbidity, time to surgery and use of general anesthesia among hip-fractured patients during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. A: Preoperative morbidity (American Society of Anesthesiologists grade); B: Time to surgery; C: General anesthesia. COVID: Coronavirus disease 2019.

segregations of the hip fracture patients into the COVID-19 positive site or the negative site will minimize cross-infection, and it will help in early delivery of medical care to the non-infected patients [24,27]. The patient may be temporarily held up in a transition zone till COVID-19 test result is available.

The importance of patient segregation into two different sites has been evaluated by Chui *et al*[24] and Segarra et al^[27]. Chui and his associate did not notice a significant difference in mortality between COVID-19 infected and non-infected patients as they could operate 61% of hip fractured patients within 36 h[24]. It has been reported that the respiratory symptoms have improved after femur fracture stabilization[23]. Catellani et al[23] advocated that the patients could be mobilized after surgery with general patient comfort, and there was an improvement in physiological ventilation. Few studies reported a slight delay (48-72 h) in providing care to the COVID-19 infected compared to non-infected patients because of the need for medical optimization of these patients [18,20,24]. Whether this delay was responsible for increased mortality in the COVID-19 positive patients is unknown. Overall, there was no significant delay in time to surgery during this epidemic. It indicates the promptness of medical health care professionals in understanding the timely delivery of emergency care. Despite understanding the risk of disease transmission, the orthopedic surgeons have given priority to the patients' health and safety. In order to evaluate the impact of COVID-19 infection in the hip fracture patients, the mortality rate of these patients was compared with the national average mortality rate of the corresponding country that has been related to COVID-19 infection. The national statistics bulletin report of United Kingdom stated that 13.7% of all deaths that occurred in England (45439 deaths) between January and July 2020 was COVID-19 related and it was 10.8% in Wales (2274 deaths) for the same period. The agestandardized mortality rates for deaths due to COVID-19, per 100000 persons, in England for March, April and May 2020 (for the period under consideration in this meta-analysis), were 33.8, 623.2 and 244.8 respectively [45,46]. It is quite apparent that the death rate of hip fracture patients with the SARS-CoV-2 infection is very high (29.33% as per the current meta-analysis) compared to the national average



Tripathy SK et al. Mortality of hip fracture patients in COVID-19 pandemic



Figure 3 Forest-plot diagram showing 30-d mortality among hip-fractured patients in these two time frames. A: Thirty-day mortality rate in hip-fractured patient during pre-coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and COVID-19 periods; B: Thirty-day mortality rate in hip-fractured patient managed during pre-COVID-19 time *vs* COVID-19 non-infected hip-fractured patients managed during COVID-19 time; C: Thirty-day mortality rate in COVID-19 infected and COVID-19 non-infected hip-fractured patients managed during COVID-19 time; C: Thirty-day mortality rate in COVID-19 infected and COVID-19 non-infected hip-fractured patients managed during COVID-19 time. COVID: Coronavirus disease 2019; COVID +: COVID-19 infected; COVID -: COVID-19 non-infected.

death due to COVID-19 infection (13.7%, five studies are from the United Kingdom).

Previous literature revealed that COVID-19 patients with multiple associated comorbidities had an increased risk of death when admitted to the critical care service[18,20,24,45]. Deng et al[47] compared the clinical characteristics, blood parameters and morbidity of 109 COVID-19 + patients who died during hospitalization with 116 recovered patients. The risk of mortality increased from 41.5% to 72.5% (P < 0.01) in patients with associated pre-existing comorbidities[45]. The national statistics bulletin of England and Wales reported 50335 deaths involving COVID-19 between March and June 2020. About 91% of these patients had at least one pre-existing disease, and the remaining 9% had no associated comorbidity[45,46]. The average number of comorbidities for COVID-19 related death was 2.1 for patients of 0-69 years of age, and it was 2.3 for patients aged > 70 years[45,46]. Center for Disease Control and Prevention reported that 8 out of 10 COVID-19 deaths in the United States have been in the older individuals of age > 65 years[48]. Poor immunological status and multiple chronic pre-existing disease conditions such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus and chronic cardiorespiratory disorders were attributed for this high death rate[18,20,24,47,48]. The preoperative comorbidities, as reported using ASA grading system, showed increased premorbid patients during the pandemic time in this review. These patients had probably poor systemic baseline function and their physiological capability to endure the surgical procedure was limited [18,20,24]. The concomitant use of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors that up-regulates the expression of ACE-2 receptors hypothetically might have increased the virus-cell binding and thereby increased the virus transmission into the cell in the COVID-19 patients. The resultant increased viral load explains the increased rate of mortality^[49]. Regarding the



Figure 4 Forest-plot diagram showing length of hospital stay, overall complications, and respiratory complications among hip-fractured patients during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. A: Length of hospital stay; B: Major complications; C: Pulmonary complications. COVID: Coronavirus disease 2019.

increased numbers of premorbid patients during the pandemic time, we believe that most of these old patients had not performed their regular check-up for chronic illnesses because of lockdown, and restriction of medical service for regular care. Despite the poorly controlled chronic disease conditions among all hip fracture patients, the increased mortality was selectively observed in the COVID-19 + patients.

General anesthesia increases the risk of aerosol exposure among health care workers and hence increases the chance of infection in them[16,18,20]. Besides, the general anesthesia also augments an inflammatory reaction within the lung parenchyma of the patients. Consequently, there was significantly less use of general anesthesia during the pandemic time compared to the pre-pandemic period. Despite the recommendation of regional anesthesia, Kayani *et al*[18] noted no difference in types of anesthesia between COVID-19 infected and non-infected patients in their series.

Many researchers reported increased early mortality, increased length of hospital stay, a higher incidence of major complications, and a greater incidence of respiratory complications in COVID-19 infected compared to the non-infected patients[16,18,20]. However, this meta-analysis did not perceive a significant difference in major complications, length of hospital stay and respiratory complication among hip fracture patients managed during the pandemic and pre-pandemic times. Probably the higher proportion of COVID-19 – patients (89%) in the evaluation controlled the result or, most of the COVID-19 + patients were probably asymptomatic or minimally affected by the infection.

There were certain limitations to this meta-analysis. All these studies are from developed nations where the health care sectors are streamlined and protocol-based; hence it cannot be generalized to all nations. Only 30-d follow up has been studied in this review, so the outcome after one month is unknown. The retrospective study design and small patient cohort are also the main limitations for this meta-analysis. Despite that, this meta-analysis is first of its kind comparing the mortality and morbidity among hip fracture patients during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods.

CONCLUSION

To conclude, there was no difference in 30-d mortality rate among hip fracture patients treated during the COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. The mortality risk was significantly high among COVID-19 + patients as compared to non-infected patients. With the development of better drug and better treatment protocol of COVID-19, the interpretation of this meta-analysis might change.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

During the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic time, the attention of the whole of the medical fraternity was diverted to the infective viral severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 infection. There was a huge risk of infection among the medical staffs and patients coming to the hospital for other serious problems. Limitations of the operation theatre and medical staff were other hurdles in tackling life-threatening emergency surgeries. Although the mandatory lockdown policy might have reduced the incidence of the road traffic accident, the incidence of fragility fractures remained unaltered. Hip fracture is a surgical emergency and needs urgent surgical intervention to reduce morbidity and mortality. The impact of the COVID-19 infection on hip fracture management has been studied by a few researchers.

Research motivation

This systematic review and meta-analysis were designed to look for the impact of COVID-19 infection on hip fracture management and outcome.

Research objectives

The objectives of this meta-analysis were to compare the 30-d mortality and complications of hip fracture management during COVID-19 pandemic time and pre-pandemic time.

Research methods

The search of electronic databases was performed to retrieve studies related to hip fracture management during COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic times. A total of 45 studies were identified, of which eight studies were eligible for quantitative and qualitative analysis of data.

Research results

The pooled data of eight studies with 1586 patients showed no significant difference in 30-d mortality rate between the hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods [9.63% vs 6.33%; odds ratio (OR), 0.62; 95% CI, 0.33, 1.17; P = 0.14]. Even there was no difference in the 30-d mortality rate between COVID-19 - patients managed during the pandemic time vs all hip fracture patients managed during the pre-pandemic period (OR, 1.03; 95% CI, 0.61, 1.75; P = 0.91). A significant difference in mortality rate was observed between COVID-19 positive and COVID-19 negative patients (OR, 6.99; 95%CI, 3.45, 14.16; P < 0.00001). There was no difference in the duration of hospital stay (OR, 6.99; 95%CI, 3.45, 14.16; P < 0.00001). -1.52; 95% CI, -3.85, 0.81; P = 0.20), overall complications (OR, 1.62; P = 0.15) and pulmonary complications (OR, 1.46; P = 0.38) in these two-time frames. Nevertheless, the preoperative morbidity was more severe, and there was less use of general anesthesia during the pandemic time.

Research conclusions

There was no difference in 30-d mortality rate between hip fracture patients treated during the pandemic and pre-pandemic periods. However, the mortality risk was higher in COVID-19 positive patients compared to COVID-19 negative patients. There was no difference in time to surgery, complications and hospitalization time between these two time periods.

Research perspectives

This meta-analysis showed that the COVID-19 infected patients with a hip fracture had a higher mortality rate, but the non-infected patients received the same level of care and they had similar mortality to that of hip fracture patient managed during the pre-pandemic period. The orthopedic trauma surgeons have learnt the ways to tackle the orthopedic emergency during the epidemic time.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tripathy SK, Varghese P, Panigrahi S and Panda BB designed the study, searched the literature and screened the articles; Tripathy SK, Panda BB, Velagada S and Naik MA assessed the quality of the studies and



the statistical analysis; Tripathy SK, Sahoo SS and Velagada S wrote the manuscript; Tripathy SK and Rao SK provided intellectual content; all authors read the manuscript and approved the final manuscript for publication.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors of this manuscript declare that they have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Sujit Kumar Tripathy 0000-0003-0179-9910; Paulson Varghese 0000-3543-0223-0245; Sibasish Panigrahi 0000-0003-1339-2405; Bijnya Birajita Panda 0000-0002-0887-1690; Sandeep Velagada 0000-0003-2441-3910; Samrat Smrutiranjan Sahoo 0000-0001-5260-738X; Monappa A Naik 0000-0002-8107-0873; Sharath K Rao 0000-0002-6013-2537.

S-Editor: Chen XF L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xing YX

REFERENCES

- WHO. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. 2020. Available from: http://www.who.int/covid-19 1
- Maryada VR, Mulpur P, Guravareddy AV, Pedamallu SK, Vijay Bhasker B. Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on 2 Orthopaedic Trauma Volumes: a Multi-Centre Perspective From the State of Telangana. Indian J Orthop 2020; 54 (Suppl 2): 1-6 [PMID: 32836367 DOI: 10.1007/s43465-020-00226-z]
- Key T, Mathai NJ, Venkatesan AS, Farnell D, Mohanty K. Personal protective equipment during the COVID-19 crisis: a 3 snapshot and recommendations from the frontline of a university teaching hospital. Bone Jt Open 2020; 1: 131-136 [PMID: 33241223 DOI: 10.1302/2633-1462.15.BJO-2020-0027.R1]
- 4 Das De S, Puhaindran ME, Sechachalam S, Wong KJH, Chong CW, Chin AYH. Sustaining a national surgical training programme during the COVID-19 pandemic. Bone Jt Open 2020; 1: 98-102 [PMID: 33225282 DOI: 10.1302/2633-1462.15.BJO-2020-0019]
- Mathai NJ, Venkatesan AS, Key T, Wilson C, Mohanty K. COVID-19 and orthopaedic surgery: evolving strategies and early experience. Bone Jt Open 2020; 1: 160-166 [PMID: 33241227 DOI: 10.1302/2633-1462.15.BJO-2020-0021.R1]
- Ettinger B, Black DM, Dawson-Hughes B, Pressman AR, Melton LJ 3rd. Updated fracture incidence rates for the US 6 version of FRAX. Osteoporos Int 2010; 21: 25-33 [PMID: 19705048 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-009-1032-9]
- 7 Leal J, Gray AM, Prieto-Alhambra D, Arden NK, Cooper C, Javaid MK, Judge A; REFReSH study group. Impact of hip fracture on hospital care costs: a population-based study. Osteoporos Int 2016; 27: 549-558 [PMID: 26286626 DOI: 10.1007/s00198-015-3277-9]
- Yombi JC, Putineanu DC, Cornu O, Lavand'homme P, Cornette P, Castanares-Zapatero D. Low haemoglobin at admission 8 is associated with mortality after hip fractures in elderly patients. Bone Joint J 2019; 101-B: 1122-1128 [PMID: 31474150 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.101B9.BJJ-2019-0526.R1
- Macey ARM, Butler J, Martin SC, Tan TY, Leach WJ, Jamal B. 30-day outcomes in hip fracture patients during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to the preceding year. Bone Jt Open 2020; 1: 415-419 [PMID: 33215132 DOI: 10.1302/2633-1462.17.BJO-2020-0077.R1]
- Sheikh HQ, Hossain FS, Aqil A, Akinbamijo B, Mushtaq V, Kapoor H. A Comprehensive Analysis of the Causes and 10 Predictors of 30-Day Mortality Following Hip Fracture Surgery. Clin Orthop Surg 2017; 9: 10-18 [PMID: 28261422 DOI: 10.4055/cios.2017.9.1.10
- 11 Nuñez JH, Sallent A, Lakhani K, Guerra-Farfan E, Vidal N, Ekhtiari S, Minguell J. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on an Emergency Traumatology Service: Experience at a Tertiary Trauma Centre in Spain. Injury 2020; 51: 1414-1418 [PMID: 32405089 DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2020.05.016]
- Park C, Sugand K, Nathwani D, Bhattacharya R, Sarraf KM. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on orthopedic trauma 12 workload in a London level 1 trauma center: the "golden month". Acta Orthop 2020; 91: 556-561 [PMID: 32573331 DOI: 10.1080/17453674.2020.1783621]
- 13 Murphy T, Akehurst H, Mutimer J. Impact of the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic on the workload of the orthopaedic service in a busy UK district general hospital. Injury 2020; 51: 2142-2147 [PMID: 32654849 DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2020.07.001]
- 14 Hu F, Jiang C, Shen J, Tang P, Wang Y. Preoperative predictors for mortality following hip fracture surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Injury 2012; 43: 676-685 [PMID: 21683355 DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2011.05.017]
- Panula J, Pihlajamäki H, Mattila VM, Jaatinen P, Vahlberg T, Aarnio P, Kivelä SL. Mortality and cause of death in hip 15 fracture patients aged 65 or older: a population-based study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2011; 12: 105 [PMID: 21599967 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2474-12-105]
- Muñoz Vives JM, Jornet-Gibert M, Cámara-Cabrera J, Esteban PL, Brunet L, Delgado-Flores L, Camacho-Carrasco P,



Torner P, Marcano-Fernández F; Spanish HIP-COVID Investigation Group. Mortality Rates of Patients with Proximal Femoral Fracture in a Worldwide Pandemic: Preliminary Results of the Spanish HIP-COVID Observational Study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2020; 102: e69 [PMID: 32618917 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.20.00686]

- 17 Cheung ZB, Forsh DA. Early outcomes after hip fracture surgery in COVID-19 patients in New York City. J Orthop 2020; 21: 291-296 [PMID: 32549692 DOI: 10.1016/j.jor.2020.06.003]
- 18 Kayani B, Onochie E, Patil V, Begum F, Cuthbert R, Ferguson D, Bhamra JS, Sharma A, Bates P, Haddad FS. The effects of COVID-19 on perioperative morbidity and mortality in patients with hip fractures. Bone Joint J 2020; 102-B: 1136-1145 [PMID: 32634023 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.102B9.BJJ-2020-1127.R1]
- Thakrar A, Chui K, Kapoor A, Hambidge J. 30-day Mortality Rate of Patients with Hip Fractures during the COVID-19 19 Pandemic: A Single Centre Prospective Study in the United Kingdom. J Orthop Trauma 2020 [PMID: 32658021 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.000000000001889]
- 20 Egol KA, Konda SR, Bird ML, Dedhia N, Landes EK, Ranson RA, Solasz SJ, Aggarwal VK, Bosco JA 3rd, Furgiuele DL, Ganta A, Gould J, Lyon TR, McLaurin TM, Tejwani NC, Zuckerman JD, Leucht P; NYU COVID Hip Fracture Research Group. Increased Mortality and Major Complications in Hip Fracture Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A New York City Perspective. J Orthop Trauma 2020; 34: 395-402 [PMID: 32482976 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.000000000001845]
- Hall AJ, Clement ND, Farrow L, MacLullich AMJ, Dall GF, Scott CEH, Jenkins PJ, White TO, Duckworth AD; IMPACT-21 Scot Study Group. IMPACT-Scot report on COVID-19 and hip fractures. Bone Joint J 2020; 102-B: 1219-1228 [PMID: 32634029 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.102B9.BJJ-2020-1100.R1]
- Konda SR, Ranson RA, Solasz SJ, Dedhia N, Lott A, Bird ML, Landes EK, Aggarwal VK, Bosco JA 3rd, Furgiuele DL, 22 Gould J, Lyon TR, McLaurin TM, Tejwani NC, Zuckerman JD, Leucht P, Ganta A, Egol KA; NYU COVID Hip Fracture Research Group. Modification of a Validated Risk Stratification Tool to Characterize Geriatric Hip Fracture Outcomes and Optimize Care in a Post COVID-19 World. J Orthop Trauma 2020 [PMID: 32658017 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.000000000001895
- 23 Catellani F, Coscione A, D'Ambrosi R, Usai L, Roscitano C, Fiorentino G. Treatment of Proximal Femoral Fragility Fractures in Patients with COVID-19 During the SARS-CoV-2 Outbreak in Northern Italy. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2020; 102: e58 [PMID: 32345864 DOI: 10.2106/JBJS.20.00617]
- Chui K, Thakrar A, Shankar S. Evaluating the efficacy of a two-site ('COVID-19' and 'COVID-19-free') trauma and 24 orthopaedic service for the management of hip fractures during the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK. Bone Jt Open 2020; 1: 190-197 [PMID: 33225288 DOI: 10.1302/2633-1462.16.BJO-2020-0035.R1]
- Upadhyaya GK, Iyengar K, Jain VK, Vaishya R. Challenges and strategies in management of osteoporosis and fragility 25 fracture care during COVID-19 pandemic. J Orthop 2020; 21: 287-290 [PMID: 32523258 DOI: 10.1016/j.jor.2020.06.001]
- 26 COVIDSurg Collaborative. Mortality and pulmonary complications in patients undergoing surgery with perioperative SARS-CoV-2 infection: an international cohort study. Lancet 2020; 396: 27-38 [PMID: 32479829 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31182-X
- Segarra B, Ballesteros Heras N, Viadel Ortiz M, Ribes-Iborra J, Martinez-Macias O, Cuesta-Peredo D. Are Hospitals Safe? 27 J Orthop Trauma 2020; 34: e371-e376 [PMID: 32658022 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.000000000001899]
- Williams JT, Kumar A. The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on hip fracture care. The Transient Journal of Trauma, 28 Orthopaedics and the Coronavirus. 2020. Available from: https://www.boa.ac.uk/resources/the-effect-of-the-covid-19pandemic-on-hip-fracture-care.html
- 29 Karayiannis PN, Roberts V, Cassidy R, Mayne AIW, McAuley D, Milligan DJ, Diamond O. 30-day mortality following trauma and orthopaedic surgery during the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic: a multicentre regional analysis of 484 patients. Bone Jt Open 2020; 1: 392-397 [PMID: 33215129 DOI: 10.1302/2633-1462.17.BJO-2020-0075.R1]
- Hutton B, Wolfe D, Moher D, Shamseer L. Reporting guidance considerations from a statistical perspective: overview of tools to enhance the rigour of reporting of randomised trials and systematic reviews. Evid Based Ment Health 2017; 20: 46-52 [PMID: 28363989 DOI: 10.1136/eb-2017-102666]
- 31 The Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. Our Research. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. 2012. Available from: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp
- 32 Review Manager (RevMan) [Computer program]. Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014
- Luo D, Wan X, Liu J, Tong T. Optimally estimating the sample mean from the sample size, median, mid-range, and/or 33 mid-quartile range. Stat Methods Med Res 2018; 27: 1785-1805 [PMID: 27683581 DOI: 10.1177/0962280216669183]
- 34 Wan X, Wang W, Liu J, Tong T. Estimating the sample mean and standard deviation from the sample size, median, range and/or interquartile range. BMC Med Res Methodol 2014; 14: 135 [PMID: 25524443 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-135]
- Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Version 5.0.0. London: The Cochrane 35 Collaboration, 2008: 1-672
- 36 Zlowodzki M, Poolman RW, Kerkhoffs GM, Tornetta P 3rd, Bhandari M; International Evidence-Based Orthopedic Surgery Working Group. How to interpret a meta-analysis and judge its value as a guide for clinical practice. Acta Orthop 2007; 78: 598-609 [PMID: 17966018 DOI: 10.1080/17453670710014284]
- 37 Schmidt FL, Oh IS, Hayes TL. Fixed- versus random-effects models in meta-analysis: model properties and an empirical comparison of differences in results. Br J Math Stat Psychol 2009; 62: 97-128 [PMID: 18001516 DOI: 10.1348/000711007X255327
- 38 Malik-Tabassum K, Crooks M, Robertson A, To C, Maling L, Selmon G. Management of hip fractures during the COVID-19 pandemic at a high-volume hip fracture unit in the United Kingdom. J Orthop 2020; 20: 332-337 [PMID: 32665751 DOI: 10.1016/j.jor.2020.06.018]
- 39 Slullitel PA, Lucero CM, Soruco ML, Barla JD, Benchimol JA, Boietti BR, Zanotti G, Comba F, Taype-Zamboni DR, Carabelli GS, Piccaluga F, Sancineto CF, Diehl M, Buttaro MA; HipFEIR [Hip Fracture in the Elderly - Institutional Register] Study Group. Prolonged social lockdown during COVID-19 pandemic and hip fracture epidemiology. Int Orthop 2020; 44: 1887-1895 [PMID: 32772318 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-020-04769-6]



- Leer-Salvesen S, Engesæter LB, Dybvik E, Furnes O, Kristensen TB, Gjertsen JE. Does time from fracture to surgery 40 affect mortality and intraoperative medical complications for hip fracture patients? Bone Joint J 2019; 101-B: 1129-1137 [PMID: 31474142 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.101B9.BJJ-2019-0295.R1]
- 41 Fu MC, Boddapati V, Gausden EB, Samuel AM, Russell LA, Lane JM. Surgery for a fracture of the hip within 24 hours of admission is independently associated with reduced short-term post-operative complications. Bone Joint J 2017; 99-B: 1216-1222 [PMID: 28860403 DOI: 10.1302/0301-620X.99B9.BJJ-2017-0101.R1]
- LeBrun DG, Konnaris MA, Ghahramani GC, Premkumar A, DeFrancesco CJ, Gruskay JA, Dvorzhinskiy A, Sandhu MS, 42 Goldwyn EM, Mendias CL, Ricci WM. Hip Fracture Outcomes During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Early Results From New York. J Orthop Trauma 2020; 34: 403-410 [PMID: 32482977 DOI: 10.1097/BOT.00000000001849]
- 43 Zhu Y, Chen W, Xin X, Yin Y, Hu J, Lv H, Li W, Deng X, Zhu C, Zhu J, Zhang J, Ye F, Chen A, Wu Z, Ma Z, Zhang X, Gao F, Li J, Wang C, Zhang Y, Hou Z. Epidemiologic characteristics of traumatic fractures in elderly patients during the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. Int Orthop 2020; 44: 1565-1570 [PMID: 32350584 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-020-04575-0]
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, Xiang J, Wang Y, Song B, Gu X, Guan L, Wei Y, Li H, Wu X, Xu J, Tu S, Zhang Y, Chen H, Cao B. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2020; 395: 1054-1062 [PMID: 32171076 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Office for National Statistics. Deaths involving COVID-19, England and Wales: deaths occurring in June 2020. 2020. 45 Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsi nvolvingcovid19englandandwales/deathsoccurringinjune2020#pre-existing-conditions-of-people-who-died-with-covid-19
- The King's Fund. Deaths from Covid-19 (coronavirus): how are they counted and what do they show? 2020. Available 46 from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/deaths-covid-19#conclusion
- Deng Y, Liu W, Liu K, Fang YY, Shang J, Zhou L, Wang K, Leng F, Wei S, Chen L, Liu HG. Clinical characteristics of 47 fatal and recovered cases of coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective study. Chin Med J (Engl) 2020; 133: 1261-1267 [PMID: 32209890 DOI: 10.1097/CM9.00000000000824]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID-19 (Coronavirus Disease). Older Adults. 2020. Available from: 48 https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/older-adults.html
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, Liu L, Shan H, Lei CL, Hui DSC, Du B, Li LJ, Zeng G, Yuen KY, 49 Chen RC, Tang CL, Wang T, Chen PY, Xiang J, Li SY, Wang JL, Liang ZJ, Peng YX, Wei L, Liu Y, Hu YH, Peng P, Wang JM, Liu JY, Chen Z, Li G, Zheng ZJ, Qiu SQ, Luo J, Ye CJ, Zhu SY, Zhong NS; China Medical Treatment Expert Group for Covid-19. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 1708-1720 [PMID: 32109013 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032]



WJD

World Journal of **Orthopedics**

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Orthop 2021 January 18; 12(1): 51-55

DOI: 10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.51

ISSN 2218-5836 (online)

CASE REPORT

Hallux rigidus treated with adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: A case report

Adriano Braile, Giuseppe Toro, Annalisa De Cicco, Antonio Benedetto Cecere, Fabio Zanchini, Alfredo Schiavone Panni

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Long X

Received: July 27, 2020 Peer-review started: July 27, 2020 First decision: September 21, 2020 Revised: October 5, 2020 Accepted: October 20, 2020 Article in press: October 20, 2020 Published online: January 18, 2021



Adriano Braile, Giuseppe Toro, Annalisa De Cicco, Antonio Benedetto Cecere, Fabio Zanchini, Alfredo Schiavone Panni, Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties and Dentistry, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples 80138, Italy

Corresponding author: Giuseppe Toro, MD, Surgeon, Department of Medical and Surgical Specialties and Dentistry, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", *Via* L. De Crecchio 4, Naples 80138, Italy. giusep.toro@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

First metatarsophalangeal joint arthritis (FMTPA), also known as hallux rigidus, is the most frequent degenerative disease of the foot. Diagnosis is made through both clinical and radiological evaluation. Regenerative medicine showed promising results in the treatment of early osteoarthritis. The aim of the present study was to report the results of a case of FMTPA treated with the injection of autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells.

CASE SUMMARY

A gentleman of 50 years of age presented with a painful hallux rigidus grade 2 resistant to any previous conservative treatment (including nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and hyaluronic acid injections). An injection of autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells into the first metatarsophalangeal joint was performed. No adverse events were reported, and both function and pain scales improved after 9 mo of follow-up.

CONCLUSION

The FMTP joint injection of mesenchymal stem cells improved symptoms and function in our patient with FMTPA at 9 mo of follow-up.

Key Words: First metatarsophalangeal joint arthritis; Hallux rigidus; Stem cells; Regenerative medicine; Early osteoarthritis; Adipose derived-mesenchymal stem cells; Case report

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Zaishidena® WJO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Core Tip: Recently, the use of intra-articular injections of stem cells has been proposed as a promising treatment in early osteoarthritis. In particular, autologous adipose-derived stem cells (aASCs) have attracted considerable attention, considering the easy access to fat tissue and the absence of adverse events registered. These characteristics make aASCs one of the most promising cell types used in regenerative medicine. Hallux rigidus, is the most frequent degenerative disease of the foot. Patients with hallux rigidus present a history of pain, gait discomfort, articular effusion, and a reduction in range of motion. Different types of treatment are available, both conservative and operative, but both are often ineffective. aASCs might overcome the gap between these two methods of treatment.

Citation: Braile A, Toro G, De Cicco A, Cecere AB, Zanchini F, Schiavone Panni A. Hallux rigidus treated with adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells: A case report. *World J Orthop* 2021; 12(1): 51-55 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2218-5836/full/v12/i1/51.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5312/wjo.v12.i1.51

INTRODUCTION

First metatarsophalangeal joint arthritis (FMTPA), also known as hallux rigidus, is the most frequent degenerative arthritis disease of the foot[1]. Depending on the severity of the disease, the symptoms in the case of FMTPA are pain, gait discomfort, articular effusion, and a reduction in range of motion. The diagnosis is generally completed by observing the typical findings of osteoarthritis (OA) revealed by X-rays. Coughlin and Shurnas proposed a classification for FMTPA based on both clinical features and imaging[2] (Table 1).

Different types of treatments had been proposed, both conservative [*i.e.*, orthosis, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, hyaluronic acid (HA) injections] and operative (*i.e.*, cheilectomy, arthroplasty, arthrodesis)[3].

Recently, emerging evidence has supported the use of autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells (aAMSCs) for the treatment of early OA[4-7].

The aim of the present study was to report the clinical results of a case of FMTPA treated with the injection of aAMSCs.

CASE PRESENTATION

Chief complaints

A gentleman of 50 years of age presented with a painful FMTP joint in the left foot.

History of present illness

His symptoms were resistant to both nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and HA injections.

History of past illness

The patient was already scheduled for an aAMSCs injection due to right knee Kellgren-Lawrence grade 2 OA.

Personal and family history

Personal and family history were negative for foot pathologies.

Physical examination

The clinical examination showed a positive axial grind test and joint pain, exacerbated by the dorsiflexion that impaired the patient's ability to walk.

Laboratory examinations

Laboratory tests did not support the final diagnosis.

Imaging examinations

Antero-posterior and latero-lateral standard X-rays showed FMTPA stage 2.

Zaishidena® WJO | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Coughlin and Shurnas clinical and radiographic classification of hallux rigidus							
Grade	Dorsiflexion	Radiographs	Clinical				
0	40°-60°	Normal	No pain, stiffness with loss of motion				
1	30°-40°	Dorsal osteophytes; Minimal narrowing; Minimal flattening	Mild pain and stiffness pain with maximum dorsiflexion/plantar flexion				
2	10°-30°	Global osteophytes, mild/moderate narrowing	Moderate to severe pain and stiffness relatively constant, pain near extreme ROM				
3	< 10°	Cystic changes	Nearly constant pain and stiffness, no midrange pain				
4	< 10°	Same as grade 3	Grade 3 + midrange pain				

FINAL DIAGNOSIS

FMTPA stage 2 was diagnosed.

TREATMENT

The patient was already scheduled for an aAMSCs injection due to right knee Kellgren-Lawrence grade 2 OA, and therefore a similar injection was proposed to treat the hallux rigidus.

Concentrated aAMSCs were obtained from the abdomen, filtered as previously reported[5], and then injected into the FMTP joint after its distraction (Figure 1).

Protected weight bearing was prescribed during the first week after the procedure.

OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The patient was followed up at regular intervals. The clinical evaluation was completed using both the American Orthopedic Foot and Ankle Society (AOFAS) for hallux metatarsophalangeal-interphalangeal scale and the Visual Analog Scale (VAS).

No adverse effects were reported, excluding a transient pain in the FMPT joint in the first week after surgery. During the entire follow-up, an improvement in both VAS and AOFAS scales were observed (Table 2), leading to a final VAS scale of 0 and an AOFAS of 78 at 9 mo of follow-up.

DISCUSSION

Recently, the use of regenerative medicine principles has been proposed for various applications in both trauma and orthopedics, and especially for the treatment of early OA[4-6,8-11]. While conventional therapies for early OA (*i.e.* physical therapy, glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate supplementation) showed little benefits, regenerative medicine was demonstrated to be a promising option, due to the paracrine, anti-apoptotic, anti-inflammatory, and anti-aging effects of stem cells[12,13].

aAMSCs showed some theoretical advantages over other sources of stem cells. In fact, aAMSCs are easy to harvest, because of the wide availability of adipose tissue, and their sampling is generally associated with minimal discomfort, considering that it can be carried out using local anesthesia[7]. Moreover, aAMSCs demonstrated a high capacity for proliferation and fibroblastic differentiation[14]. Hass *et al*[15] showed that adipose tissue should be considered a primary source of cells for regenerative medicine as it contains 500 times more MSCs than the same volume of bone marrow.

Emerging literature has underlined the role of aAMSCs in the treatment of early OA. Schiavone Panni *et al*[5] conducted a study of 52 patients with early knee OA treated with arthroscopic debridement and aAMSCs injection, and showed improvement in both function and pain at an average of 15.3 mo of follow-up. Similarly, Song *et al*[16] reported the amelioration of pain, function and cartilage volume of the knee after multiple injections of aAMSCs. The efficacy of aAMSCs in OA was recently confirmed in a systematic review conducted by McIntyre *et al*[17].

FMTPA is a degenerative disease with an incidence of 2.5% in patients over 50 years of age. Its treatment might be frustrating for both the orthopedic and the patient, considering the conflicting outcomes reported after conservative treatment, including HA injections. Petrella *et al*[18] in their study of 47 patients with FTMPA, described the long-term improvement in both pain and function after multiple HA injections; however, Munteanu *et al*[19] in their randomized controlled trial did not observe any differences when HA was compared with placebo.

Braile A et al. Mesenchymal stem cells for hallux rigidus

Table 2 American Orthopedic Foot and Ankle Society and Visual Analog Scale scores							
	Pre-operatively	6-mo follow-up	9-mo follow-up				
AOFAS score							
Pain	30	30	30				
Function	35	40	40				
Alignment	8	8	8				
Total score	73	78	78				
VAS	7	5	0				

AOFAS: American Orthopedic Foot and Ankle Society; VAS: Visual analog scale.



Figure 1 Intraoperative picture showing the autologous adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells injection into the first metatarsophalangeal joint.

> Pons et al^[20] in a randomized study compared the use of sodium hyaluronate with triamcinolone acetonide in FMTPA, and reported an improvement in pain relief and function at 3 mo after the injections. However, a high percentage of patients in both groups required subsequent surgery after 1 year of follow-up, due to further progression of the disease with worsening of both pain and function.

> To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report on the use of aAMSCs for FMTPA. A single injection was effective in treating FMTPA, improving both the AOFAS and VAS score at 9 mo of followup.

CONCLUSION

The present case report indicates that the injection of aAMSCs might be a promising treatment for FMTPA. Obviously, larger cohorts and longer follow-up studies are needed to confirm these findings.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Braile A, Toro G, and Panni AS conceived the study; Cecere AB, and De Cicco AD collected clinical data; Cecere AB, De Cicco AD, and Zanchini F interpreted the obtained data; Braile A and Toro G wrote the article; Panni AS supervised the entire process; all authors revised and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Informed consent statement: As routinely performed, the patient signed a written informed consent in which he authorized the surgical procedure and data collection for research and audit purposes. According to Italian law no formal ethical approval is required for this type of study as it includes routinely performed clinical evaluations.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they had no conflict of interest.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was



prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is noncommercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Adriano Braile 0000-0001-5366-5733; Giuseppe Toro 0000-0002-8560-721X; Annalisa De Cicco 0000-0003-0548-5767; Antonio Benedetto Cecere 0000-0001-6531-2521; Fabio Zanchini 0000-0001-6438-3395; Alfredo Schiavone Panni 0000-0003-3262-3483.

S-Editor: Zhang L L-Editor: Webster JR P-Editor: Li JH

REFERENCES

- Ho B, Baumhauer J. Hallux rigidus. EFORT Open Rev 2017; 2: 13-20 [PMID: 28607766 DOI: 1 10.1302/2058-5241.2.160031]
- 2 Coughlin MJ, Shurnas PS. Hallux rigidus. Grading and long-term results of operative treatment. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2003; 85: 2072-2088 [PMID: 14630834 DOI: 10.2106/00004623-200311000-00003]
- 3 Herrera-Pérez M, Andarcia-Bañuelos C, de Bergua-Domingo J, Paul J, Barg A, Valderrabano V. [Proposed global treatment algorithm for hallux rigidus according to evidence-based medicine]. Rev Esp Cir Ortop Traumatol 2014; 58: 377-386 [PMID: 25088241 DOI: 10.1016/j.recot.2014.05.004]
- 4 Damia E, Chicharro D, Lopez S, Cuervo B, Rubio M, Sopena JJ, Vilar JM, Carrillo JM. Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Are They a Good Therapeutic Strategy for Osteoarthritis? Int J Mol Sci 2018; 19 [PMID: 29966351 DOI: 10.3390/ijms19071926]
- Schiavone Panni A, Vasso M, Braile A, Toro G, De Cicco A, Viggiano D, Lepore F. Preliminary results of autologous adipose-derived stem cells in early knee osteoarthritis: identification of a subpopulation with greater response. Int Orthop 2019; 43: 7-13 [PMID: 30280218 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-018-4182-6]
- 6 Ha CW, Park YB, Kim SH, Lee HJ. Intra-articular Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Osteoarthritis of the Knee: A Systematic Review of Clinical Outcomes and Evidence of Cartilage Repair. Arthroscopy 2019; 35: 277-288. e2 [PMID: 30455086 DOI: 10.1016/j.arthro.2018.07.028]
- Nöth U, Steinert AF, Tuan RS. Technology insight: adult mesenchymal stem cells for osteoarthritis therapy. Nat Clin Pract 7 Rheumatol 2008; 4: 371-380 [PMID: 18477997 DOI: 10.1038/ncprheum0816]
- 8 Caggiari G. Efficacy of platelet-rich plasma in experiental instrumented interbody spinal fusion. EuroMediterranean Biomed J 2016; 141–147 [DOI: 10.3269/1970-5492.2016.11.20]
- 9 Doria C, Mosele GR, Caggiari G, Puddu L, Ciurlia E. Treatment of Early Hip Osteoarthritis: Ultrasound-Guided Platelet Rich Plasma vs Hyaluronic Acid Injections in a Randomized Clinical Trial. Joints 2017; 5: 152-155 [PMID: 29270545 DOI: 10.1055/s-0037-1605584]
- Toro G, Moretti A, Toro G, Tirelli A, Calabrò G, Toro A, Iolascon G. Surgical treatment of neglected hip fracture in 10 children with cerebral palsy: case report and review of the literature. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab 2017; 14: 317-323 [PMID: 29354160 DOI: 10.11138/ccmbm/2017.14.3.317]
- 11 Toro G, Lepore F, Calabrò G, Toro G, Rossini M, Vasso M, Schiavone Panni A. Humeral shaft non-union in the elderly: Results with cortical graft plus stem cells. Injury 2019; 50 Suppl 2: S75-S79 [PMID: 30846284 DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2019.01.050]
- 12 Wehling P, Evans C, Wehling J, Maixner W. Effectiveness of intra-articular therapies in osteoarthritis: a literature review. Ther Adv Musculoskelet Dis 2017; 9: 183-196 [PMID: 28835778 DOI: 10.1177/1759720X17712695]
- Platas J, Guillén MI, Pérez Del Caz MD, Gomar F, Castejón MA, Mirabet V, Alcaraz MJ. Paracrine effects of human 13 adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells in inflammatory stress-induced senescence features of osteoarthritic chondrocytes. Aging (Albany NY) 2016; 8: 1703-1717 [PMID: 27490266 DOI: 10.18632/aging.101007]
- 14 McIntosh KR, Frazier T, Rowan BG, Gimble JM. Evolution and future prospects of adipose-derived immunomodulatory cell therapeutics. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 2013; 9: 175-184 [PMID: 23390948 DOI: 10.1586/eci.12.96]
- Hass R, Kasper C, Böhm S, Jacobs R. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): A 15 comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun Signal 2011; 9: 12 [PMID: 21569606 DOI: 10.1186/1478-811X-9-12
- 16 Song Y, Du H, Dai C, Zhang L, Li S, Hunter DJ, Lu L, Bao C. Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells for osteoarthritis: a pilot study with long-term follow-up and repeated injections. Regen Med 2018; 13: 295-307 [PMID: 29417902 DOI: 10.2217/rme-2017-0152]
- 17 McIntyre JA, Jones IA, Han B, Vangsness CT Jr. Intra-articular Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for the Human Joint: A Systematic Review. Am J Sports Med 2018; 46: 3550-3563 [PMID: 29099618 DOI: 10.1177/0363546517735844]
- Petrella RJ, Cogliano A. Intra-articular Hyaluronic Acid Treatment for Golfer's Toe: Keeping Older Golfers on Course. 18 Phys Sportsmed 2004; 32: 41-45 [PMID: 20086421 DOI: 10.3810/psm.2004.07.453]



Braile A et al. Mesenchymal stem cells for hallux rigidus

- 19 Munteanu SE, Zammit GV, Menz HB, Landorf KB, Handley CJ, Elzarka A, Deluca J. Effectiveness of intra-articular hyaluronan (Synvisc, hylan G-F 20) for the treatment of first metatarsophalangeal joint osteoarthritis: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis 2011; 70: 1838-1841 [PMID: 21791454 DOI: 10.1136/ard.2011.153049]
- 20 Pons M, Alvarez F, Solana J, Viladot R, Varela L. Sodium hyaluronate in the treatment of hallux rigidus. A single-blind, randomized study. Foot Ankle Int 2007; 28: 38-42 [PMID: 17257536 DOI: 10.3113/FAI.2007.0007]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

